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About Terramin

TerraminAustralia Limited (the Company derramin)engages in the exploration, evaluation and development of base and precious
metal projects.

Terramin has a clear focus on growingraduction pipeline of base and precious metal projects closeftastructure and with low
capitaland operating costs. Consistent with tfiigus,the Groupholdsseveralhighly prospective mineral deposits and exploration
tenements acrosglgeriaand South Australia.

¢SNNIF YAYyQa YIFI 22N LINp2SOia I NBY

Tala Hamza Zinc Project (49% Terramin)

A largemineral Resourceof 53.0 million tonnes @ 5.3%zincand 1.3%lead which supports a 20year mining projecton which a
definitive feasibility study was completed in 20T&e project has the potential to be in the top ten largest zinc mines in the world.
Mining Permit has been granted with all environmental approvals in place and a process of land acquisitiderisay. Extensive
established infrastructure in place with attractive low power and fuel costs. Terraraurrisntly in discussion with various parties
regarding the construction and funding of this proj&gth the objective of starting constructioin 2024

Bird in Hand Gold Project (100% Terramin)

The Bird in Hand Gold Project is a hgghde mineral Resource of 265,000 gold ounces at 12.6 g/t gold with the ore body open at
depth and exploration upside in near proximity. A completed feasibilityystd®X Announcement issued on 23 June202@ . A NR
Hand Gold Project Feasibility Study Compitiedliicates a Postax NP¥of $141nt and IRR of 80.5%ased on a modest gold price

of $2.300/0z (US$1,50z). The preproduction capitals a lowA$54Y A £ £t A2y RdzS (2 dziAtAal GAzy 27
facility to produce a gold concentrate. Terramin is currently seeking a Mining Lease for the project following an ggttiahrbjy

the South Australian Government.

Regional ProspectsSauth Australia
Additional interests include joint venture interest irthe Kapunda CoppdProjectand an exploration programwith JOGMEC in
relation tothe South Gawler Ranges Project

1. NP\ NPV has beerrlculatedusing a discount rate of 8%. NPV and IRRal®ilatedfrom ramp up of starup capital.

Registered andusinessOffice

Terramin Australia Limited

2115 Callington Road,
Strathalbyn SouthAustralia,5255

T +618 85365950

E info@terramin.com.au
W www.terramin.com.au
ABN 67 062 576 238

ACN 062 576 238
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Adelaide SouthAustralia,5000

Share Rqistry

Computershardnvestor ServicesPty Ltd
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Adelaide SouthAustralia,5000
T1300556161
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Dear Fellow Shareholders
On behalf of the Directors of Terramin Australimited | present our 202 Annual Report.

2023 has been gear of significant achievement for Terramin at the werldss Tala Hamza ZiRooject. The grant of the Mining
Permit for Tala Hamza by the Algeriemning regulator has paved the way for the development of one of the largest zinc and lead
deposits in he worldcontaining 3.5 million tonnes of ziand lead of which Terramin will retain a 49% interest.

A 2018 Definitive Feasibility Study indicated that Tala Hamza will produce an average of 129,300 tpa of zinc conceB6#&186nd
tpa of lead concentri@ over a 21year minelife. Terramin has completed an optimisation study that increases the throughput of the
projectby 50%which could further increase returns.

In addition, late in 2023, the Algerian government signalled its further support by issuiagree to purchase the land required for
the development of the projectWe expect this process to be completed by early 2024.

On behalf of Terramin, | would like to thank the Algerian government for its unwavering swgsgbdooperation in respedf the
Tala Hamza Zinc Project.

In contrast, the refusal of the South Australian Minister Energy and Mining to approve the Bird in Hand Gold Project was
unexpected and disappointing. Terramin understands that at the time of deciding to refuse the dpplita¢ Minister had received
advice from the mining regulator that the project had met all requirements to be approved. Unfortunately, this decisieft has
Terramin with little choice but to undertake legal action for judicial review of this dedisitte Supreme Court of South Australia.
¢tKS 5ANBOGZ2NE OFy |a&adNB ¢SNNIYAYyQa akKlINBK2ft RSNa GKIFdG ¢SN

Terramin has continued to advance its other projects in South Australia including a $lli@5 exiploration agreement with Japan
Organization for Metal and Energy Security (JOGMEC) in respect to the South Gawler Ranges Project and the KapundaeCopper F
with our joint venture partner, Environmental Copper Recovery Pty Ltd.

| wish to thank ar shareholders for your ongoing support.

FengBruceSheng
Executive Chair
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rectord{Report

for the Year Ende81 December 228

Your Directorssubmit their report on the consolidated entity
TerraminAustralia Limited (the Company drerramin)and its
controlled entities (the Group),for the year ended 31
December 203.

Directors

Thefollowing persons were Directorsf the Companyduring
the whole of theyear and up to thelate of the report unless
stated otherwise:

Mr Feng(Bruce)Sheng

Executive Chair
Appointed Director 1April 2013 and
Executive Chalrl January 2018

Mr Sheng is Chair of Melbourne basa&dipacGroup Pty Ltd
(Asipag. Mr Sheng has been involved in the investment sector
for approximately 25 years, mainly in the areas of property and
resources Mr Sheng was formerly the Vice Chair of the
Australia China Business Council (Victoria)

Mr Michael HKennedy

B.Com(Economics)
Non-Executive Deputy Chair
Appointed 15 Jun2005

Mr Kennedy has enjoyed 40-year career in the norferrous
mining and smeltingndustry andhas held anumber of senior
marketing and logistics roles with theCRA/RTZ Group,
managing raw material sales from tiBougainville, Broken Hill,
Cobar and Woodlawn minesjanaged raw material purchases
and supply into thePort Pirie leacsmelter,Budel zinc smelter
(Netherlands), and the Avonmouth (UK) and Cockle Creek
(Newcastle)zinclead smelters. He was the resident Director of
the Korea Zinc group of companiesAiastralia from 1991 until
2005, which encompassed the construction and commissioning
of the Sun Metals zinc refinery Fownsville Mr Kennedy is a
member of theAudit, Rék and CompliancEommitteeandthe
Nominations and Remuneration Committee.

Mr KevinMcGuinness

BAA, ACA
Non-ExecutiveDirector
Appointed17 April 2013

ASX listed and private compani@s the mining, medical
equipment industries and not-for-profit organisations. Mr
McGuinness was previsly the Chief Financial Officer of Exact
Mining Services. He fermer Chair of Green Industries SA, a
former Director and Chair of the Royal Zoological Society of SA
and a former Director of ASX listed, Ellex Medical Lasers
Limited. Mr McGuinness is Chaaf the Audit, Risk and
Compliance  Committee and the Nominations and
Remuneration Committee.

Mr AngeloSiciliano

FIPARegisteredlaxAgent,BBus
Non-Executive Director
Appointed 2 January 2013
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Mr Sicilianohas 38 S NB Q &&ani&chdurayt @ he
property sector and financial accounting. Mr Siciliano is an
accountant for the Asipac Group and for the last 26 years
has owned and managed an accounting practice
predominantly focusing on taxation and business consulting.
Mr Sicliano is a fellow of the Institute of Public Accountants
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and of the Nominations & Remuneration Committee.

Mr Junming Zhang

Non-Executive Director
Appointed6 July 2023

Mr Zhang is a Mining Engineer with considerable mining
experience spanning over 30 years, including extensive
project experience in Africa and Asia. Mr Zhang is currently
the Senior Expert of China N&w®rrous Metals Industry's

Foreign Engineering & ConsBui A 2 y

/2

Technology and Information Department.

Ms Lulu Shi

Non-Executive Director
Ceasean 6 July 2023

iRQa

Ms Shi is Vice President of China Negrrous Metals

9y IAYSSNA
considerable project management experience through the
acquisition and development of base metals projects in
SouthernCentral Africa and SoutBastAsia, notably the
Launshya Copper Mine in Zambia and the Tagaung Taung

Ly Rdza i NB Q&

Nickel Project in Myanmar.

Company Secretary

Mr André van Driel

BCom, CPA, CertGovPrac
Finance Manager
Appointed6 March 2020

C2NBA 3y

Mr van Drielhasover 20 yearsof experience iraccounting
and tax roleswithin the resources sector, includinghaving
worked forNewmont Australia Limited, BHP Billitamited
(now known as BHP Group Lied)andRamelius Resources
Mr McGuinness is a finance executive with more than 25 years Limited Mr van Drielis a graduate of theCPA Australia
of experience as a Director and in executive management with Certified Pratising Accountant{CPA program andhas
completed the Certificate in Governance Practice with the
Governance Institute of Australia Limited
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Meetingsof Directors

The number of meetings of the 2 Y LJI BoarQat Directors

and of eachBoardcommittee held during the year ended 31
December 203, and the number of meetingatendedby each

Directorwere:

A Audit, Nominations &
Directors 5!\42elt\ilr‘zso Risk & Compliance = Remuneration
Committee Committeé
E A E A E A
FSheng 6 6 - - - -
M Kennedy 6 6 3 2
K McGuinness 6 6 3 3
A Siciliano 6 6 3 3
L Shi 5 -
J Zhang 1 1

E Number of meetings eligible to attend.
A Number of meetings attended.

1 ¢ the Nominations & Remunerations Committee didhmaitl a meeting
during the year but did conductraview ofemployeeremuneration confirmed
by a resolution of directorvia email

PrincipalActivities

During theyear,there were no significant changes in thature

of the D NB dgtid@igal activities which continuetb focuson

the development ofand explorationfor base and precious
metals (in particular zinc, lead and gohlf)d other economic
mineraldeposits.

OperatingResults

Theconsolidatedlossof the Groupafter providingfor income
tax was $6.4 million for the yearto 31 December 228 (2022:
consolidated loss ¢f7.4million). Themajorcontributorsto the
result were interest expense associated with the loan facilities
and administration expenditure relating to Australian
operations

The consolidated net asse@bsition as at 31 December 28
was $11.9 million, a decrease from $8.3 million as at 31
December 202. The decreasés primarily attributable to the
increase in current borrowings and accrued interest payable
loan facilities

DividendsPaid or Recommended

No dividends were paid or declared during the year aml
recommendation was made foay a dividend.

Reviewof Operations

During the year, the Company continued to focus on the
exploration, evaluation and development of base and precious
metal projects inAlgeriaand Australia. Highlights for each of

GKS /2YLIlyeQa YI22N LINr2SOia
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North African Projects

Tah Hamza Zinc Project
(Terramind9%)

The Tala Hamza Zinc Projétala Hamzay 100% owned by
Western Mediterranean Zinc Sp&Véstern Mediterranean
Zinc otWMZ). Terramin has49%sharéholding in WMZ. The
remaining 51% is held by two Algerian Government owned
companies: Enterprise Nationdles Produits Miniers Nen
Ferreux et des Substances Utiles Spa (ENGE5%) and
Office National de Recherché Géologique et Miniere (ORGM)
(2.5%). WMZ was formed following a resolution of the State
Participation Council (CPE) to create a legal entity between
ENOF and Terramin for the development and mining of the
Tala Hamza zidead deposit. Terramin retains management
rights over Tala Hamza.

In 202Q Terramin completed an optimisation study in respect
of Tala Hamza and presented this study to our joint venture
partners. In March 2022, the joint venture partners
unanimously agreed to endorse the study and agreed to
advance the project towards develo@ny i 0 a5SOAa
ahySeoo

During the reporting period, Tala Hamza achieved two major
milestones. IrMlay 2023, Terramin was pleased to announce
that the Algerian mining regulatohad issted the Mining
Permitfor the project The issue of the Mining Pernriteans
that Tala Hamza has satisfied all Algerian regulatory, financial
and environmental requirements and that it can now proceed
towards development. In collaboration with our Algerian
partners, this Mining Permit will allow for the mining and
processingof 2.0mtpa of ore instead of the 1.3mtpa
anticipated in the 2018 Tala Hamza Definitive Feasibility
Study, indicating that project returns will be enhanced over
the anticipated 20+ year mine life. The Mining Permit
encompasses all the area of land requifedoperation of the
mine including mining, processing, haul roads, ore stockpiles,
tailings dams, concentrate handling and maintenance and
administration.

Subsequently, n October 2023, the Algerian Government
issued an Executive Decree of Public Uti(Becree) in
respect of Tala Hamza. The Decree was signed by the Prime
Minister of Algeria, Mr Benabderrahmane. The issue of the
Decree triggered the process for the acquisition of the land by
the Algerian Government which covers the footprint of the
Tala Hamza Mining Permit. This land of an area of
approximately 234 hectares will then be made available to
the project to undertake its operations. The land will support
all the project mining and processing operations as well as
direct ramp access to a highwgwhich is currently under
cq,nﬂtgctiométhgé ﬁﬁdg rgire%ﬂ)é EoztlajecDPort of Bejaia
(approximately 15km to the north) and important electricity
and gas infrastructure.

Following the issue of the Decree, the Algerian Government
has progressed the acquisitioof the land and Terramin
expects the process to be completed early in 2024 with the
land being available to the project soon after.
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Terramin has continued to progress its discussions with major
construction groups regardintpe funding and construction of
the project. These groups have undertaken a number of visits
to the project site as part of their assessment.

Australian Projects

Bird in Hand Gold Project (including Angas Zinc Mine and
Processing Facility)
(Terramin / Termmin Exploration Pty Ltd 100%)

The Bird in Hand Gold Proj&IHGPjs locatedapproximately
30km north of ¢ S NNJ axistiid tnining and processing
facilities at theAngas Zinc MindAZM)in Strathalbyn.The
project has a higlyrade Resource of 265,000 ouncegold at
12.69/t, whichisamenableto undergroundmining.

In June 2020, Terramin announced the results of a Feasibility
Study which indicated that BIHGP has a robust financial
outcome, including a pogax NPY $141 millon and IRR of
80.5% over approximately 4 years of production.

I i N
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the Mining (Reservation from Act) Ridamation 2023 (SA)
reserving the land from the operation of parts 4, 5, 6, 6A, 8
and 8A of the Act.

In August 2023, Terramin filed legal proceedings in the
Supreme Court of South Australia (Supreme Court) seeking
judicial review of the refusal of thépplications and the
making of the recommendation to the Governor. Terramin
contends, amongst other things, that each decision should be
set aside on the basis that the decisions misapprehended the
statutory power in the Mining Act 1971 (SA), were legally
unreasonable, did not take into account relevant
considerations, took into account an irrelevant consideration,
and that Terramin was not accorded procedural fairness.

The legal proceedings are continuing to progress with the
matter expected to be heardhithe Supreme Court in the first
half of 2024.

Adelaide Hills Project
(Terramir/ TerraminExplorationPty Ltd 100%)

The Adelaide Hills Project consist$é eight exploration
tenements that cover 2,7%m?2 largely over the southern

The study is based on a gold price of $2,300 per ounce, which isAdelaide Fold Belt. Thigoject area is considergurospective

below the current prevailing gold pricaf $3,100 per ounce
¢tKS LI DtQa olasS OFrasS LINee2SO
44,7000unces of gold per annum over four years at a low C1
cash cost of $737 per ounce and animustaining cost of $959
per ounce. The prproduction capital is estimated to be $54
million.

In June 2019, Terramin submitted applications for a mining
lease &d a miscellaneous purposes licencapglication$
pursuant to sections 36 and 49 of tMéning Act1971(SA) Act)

in respect of the BIHGP.

In February 2023, thélonourable Tom Koutsantonis, South
Australian Minister for Energy and Mining (Ministdecidedto
refuse the Applications.

The decision was made notwithstanding an extensive review of
CSNNI YAyQa ! LILX AOFdGA2ya o8&

for gold, copper, lead and zinc.
Bu@inzg%he ?‘e&ortinug 2perioLC?,N é%tf\:\;itcljezs(? v%ere IIc%fint'éd?oStfR\le‘]' 3
BIHGP and the Kapunda Copper Joint Venture.

Kapunda Copper Joint Venture
(Terramin Exploration Pty Ltd 50%, subject to faunt)

In August 2017, Terramin entered into an agreement with
Environmental Copper Recovery Pty Ltd (ECR) in respect of
the potential development of a low cost in situ recovery (ISR)
copper project near Kapunda, South Australia, approximately
90 km north @ Adelaide. The joint venture is investigating the
potential to extract through ISR the copper from shallow
oxide ores in and around the historic Kapunda Mine workings.

During 2020, ECR earned a 50% interest in the project after
spending $2.0 million andas elected to earn a further 25%

i Spehdd§zinKadditigral (sNd itidnyY séhRditoNdeY S

for Energy and Mining (DEM). DEM made a positive assessmentcompletion of this expenditure, Terramin will retain 25% and

of the Applications and found that apppdate environmental
outcomes could be achieved should the mining lease and
miscellaneous purposes licence be granted. The conclusion by
59a Aa y20 | &adz2NLINRA&S | &
supported by comprehensive studies based on science, which
demondrated that there would be no adverse environmental
orsociesS 02y 2YA O 2dzi 02YSa
proposal. These studies were peer reviewed by independent
and Government experts over many years. Terramin has not
been made aware of any issu@gth the methodology or
conclusions of these studies.

Subsequently, Terramin was informed of a proposal by the
Minister to recommend to her Excellency the Governor of
South Australia that an area corresponding with mining lease
application and mineral clai 4473 be reserved pursuant to
section 8 of the Act (meaning that those areas be excluded from
the possibility of future applications under the Act). Following
that recommendation, on 27 April 2023 her Excellency made

PN & Ay §Stimaigpsyonly i§ Neraesy Ryttt pary gf

receive a 1.5% royalty in respect of all metals extracted by the
joint venture.

¢T8TRNIP 38 FeRghave esfefl § @MlinghRegpUCy & NB

47.4 million tonnes at 0.25% copper containing 119,000
tonnes of copper using a 0.05% copper cut off. This Resource
£ |Kapunda
mineralisation that is considered amendable o ISR feop
oxides and secondary copper sulphides) and only reports
mineralisation that is within 100 metres of the surface.

Following the grant of key approvals, the project commenced
the first stage of its Site Environmental Lixiviant Test (SELT)
trial at Kapuna with a push/pull test carried out introducing

a biodegradable lixiviant into the mineralised zone to assess
both chemical and hydrogeological parameters. The test was
successful with dissolved copper grades increasing markedly
and samples of the coppemneched lixiviant now being sent

off site for further test work.
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DirectorsCReport,

In addition, approval has been obtained from DEM for the
drilling of the wells for the second phase of work (funded by
BHP Limitedollowing its takeover of @Minerals Limited OZL)
inthe first half 0f2023 During 20220ZL agreed to provide $2.5
million to ECRo fund the completion ofts feasibility study.
This second phase of work will entail drilling-sgot pattern to
carry out a circulation trial téurther assess copper recoveries.
This drilling is expeetl to occur early in 2024.
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continued)

South Gawler Ranges Project
(MenninnieMetals Pty Ltd (MMPL)100%

A\
AN ‘RRAM
TEN TERRAMIN
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™ > >
Corporate

During the period, the Company agreed with its major
shareholder Asipato restructure and increase the existing
unsecured Standby Term (No.2) Facility from $1.28 million to
$4.08 million (which was fully drawn at the reporting date)
The $6 million Bird in Hand Facility, the $21.18 million
Standby Shorterm Facility and the 408 million unsecured
Standby Term (No.2) Facility continue on terms that expire on
31 &nuary2024.

Significant Changes in State of Affairs

The Southern Gawler Ranges Project (SGRP) is in the GawleFhere were no signifemt changes in the state of affairs of the

Craton of South Australia, an area that is becoming increasingly
recognised as an undexplored region with high discovery
potential. The project comprises a group of eleven Exploration
Licenses totaling 4,524Kmand are located 100 kms west of
Port Augwsta. The project area is prospective for a range of
deposit styles that host combinations of gold, silver, copper,
lead and zinc. The project hosts the Menninnie Dam deposit,
the largest undeveloped leazinc deposit in South Australia.
The lodes at Mennimie Central and Viper have been combined
to estimate a JORC 2004 compliant Inferred Resource totaling:

7.7Mt @ 3.1% Zn, 2.6% Pb and 27g/t Ag, at a 2.5% Pb+Zn cut

off.

In March 2022, Terramin entered into a $10.5 exploration
agreement with the Japan Orgaation for Metal and Energy

Group during the year, other than as referred to in this report.

Subsequen€Events

There are no matters or circumstances that have arisen since
the end of the year that have significantly affected or may
significantly affect either the entities operations or state of
affairs in future years or the results of those operations in
future years, other than the Company:

1) securing an investment of US$6.68 million (approximately
A$10 million) from a strategic ingr through the issue
of a Convertible NotdASX Announcement ¢hJanuary
2024: Terramin secures US$6.68 million investrjieartd

2) reaching agreement with major shareholder, Asipac
Group, to extend the term of the Finance Facilities from

Security (JOGMEC). JOGMEC has committed to funding A$7.5 31 January 2024ot31 July 2024ASX Announcement on

million in exploration expenditure on the SGRP up to 31 March
2028 over 3 stages for which it will be entitled to acquire 70%
of the interest in the SGRP. It has an optiopurchase 6.0%
interest in the SGRP (within 365 days pB&ige 3) by paying
A$3,000,000 cash and granting a 0.5% net smelter royalty to
Terramin. Within 365 days of the exercise of the option to
purchase, it has the right to buy back the 0.5% NSRtyops
paying A$1,500,000 cash to Terramin.

Following the extensive gravity survey undertaken in late 2022,
the parties followed up with a series of TEM (Transient
Electromagnetic) surveys over five target areas and priority
drilling targets have been idéfied. As at the end of the year,
the parties are awaiting heritage clearance for these areas.

In addition, JOGMEC and Terramin obtained approval from
DEM for the drilling of twather target areas with one being
near Menninnie Dam and the other near Nang Station
Homestead. Drilling commenced in January and results are
pending.

A further drilling program focssing on the additional targets is
expected to be undertaken later in 2024 once heritage
clearances and subsequent approval from DEMehbeen
obtained.

During the reporting period, Menninnie Metals Pty Ltd entered
into a Native Title Mining Agreement for exploration activities
with the Gawler Ranges Aboriginal Corporation. This
agreement applies to the entire SGRP area and replaces all
existing agrements.

30 January 2024: Finance Facility Upglate

FutureDevelopments

CSNNI YAyQa F20dza gAtft O2yiAyd
development ofits projects, particularlyhe Tala Hamza Zinc
Project and the Bird in Hand @dProject.

Competent Person Statement

The information in this report that relates to Exploration
Results and Mineral Resources is based on information
compiled by Mr Eric Whittaker (Tala Hamza, Menninnie,
Angas and Kapunda Resources) and Mr Dan Brost i(Bird
Hand Resource), both being Competent Persons who are
Member(s) of The Australasian Institute of Mining and
Metallurgy (AusiIMM). Mr Whittaker was employed as the
Regional Exploration Manager of Terramin Australia Limited
and Mr Brost is a geologist carsng to Terramin.

Mr Whittaker and Mr Brost have sufficient experience that is
relevant to the style of mineralisatioand type of deposit

under consideration and to the activity being undertaken to
qualify as Competent Person(s) as defined in the 2012 Edition
2F GKS Wl dzZAGNItlFaAlky /2RSS F2N
aAyYSNIrt wSaz2dzaNOSa | yRrandlldr wS:
Brost consent to the inclusion in the report of the matters
based on their information in the form and context in which

it appears.
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DirectorsCReport continuea

The information in this report that relates to Ore Reserves is
based on information compiled or reviewed by Mr Luke

Neesham, a Competent Person who is a Member of The
Australasian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy (AusIMM).

Mr Neesham is Principal Miniigngineer for GO Mining Pty Ltd

a consulting firm engaged by Terramin Australia Limited to
prepare mining designs and schedules for the Tala Hamza
Feasibility Study. Mr Neesham has sufficient experience that is
relevant to the style of mineralisation andaty of deposit under
consideration and to the activity being undertaken to qualify as
a Competent Person as defined in the 2012 Edition of the
W dzZaGNF £ aAty
wSaz2dz2NDS& YR hNB wSaS N@kea Q@
inclusion in the report of the matters based on his information

in the form and context in which it appears.

Corporate Governance Statement

Terramin has adopted fit for purpose systems of control and
accountability as the basis for the administratioand
compliance of effective and practical corporate governance.

These systems are reviewed regularly and revised if
appropriate.
¢tKS . 2FNR A& O2YYAGGSR G2 |

policies and procedures with transparency and integrity,
pursuing the genuine spirit of good corporate governance
practice. To the extent they are applicable, the Company has
FR2LIGSR GKS 1 {. [/ 2NLIR2NIGS
Governance Principles and Recommendatiorfs Edlition. As
0KS DNZRdzLIQa
additional corporate governance structures will be considered
by the Board and assessed as to their relevance.

In accordance with the ASX Listing Rules, the Corporate
Governance Statement and Appendix 4G checklist are released
to the ASX on the same day the Annual Report is released. The
Corporate Governance policies and charters can be found on
the/ 2 YLJ yeQa ¢So0airas

Audit and Risk Committeg assists the Board in the effective
discharge of its responsibilities in relation to financial reporting
and disclosure processes, internal financial controls, funding,
financial risk management, including external audit functions,
and oversight of internal control and risk management systea
effectiveness.

Nomination and Remuneration Committee assists the Board

in discharging its responsibilities relating to the remuneration
of directors, executives and employees, succession planning,
and relevant policy establishment and monitoring.

This Corporate Governance Statement is currasdt 19 March
2024 and has been approved by the Board.

Share Capital

(a)Ordinary Shares
As at 31 December 2G82there were 2,116,562,720 fully
paid ordinary shares in the capital of the Company on issue.

(b)Unlisted Options outstanding at the date of this
report

At the date of this reportno unlisted options over fully paid
ordinary shares in the capital of Terramin were on issue

(c)Unlisted options exercised cancelled/ lapsed/
expiredduring the year

/ 2RS T2 NJ wsS L2 NI Pyriag the yeartheg fplipwingynlistgdoppiongpeekfht § a4 =

PaidQudingry shigrean the cagialgf eEGpmpanexpired

unexercised

Expiry Date Exercise Price § Number of Options on Issue

2 August 2023 0.20 2,500,000
2 August 2023 0.25 2,500,000
Total 5,000,000

D23SNYIyoOS
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motivate andretain highly skilledDirectorsand Executives.

¢ KS DNRdzZLJQa Yat O2YLSyalidAizy
This remuneration report for the year ended 31 December®02  and retain appropriately qualified anekperiencedDirectors
outlines the remuneration arrangements of the Company in andExecutivesn accordancevith the following principles:
accordance with requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 T
(Act) the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Remuneration Report Audited

Provide competitive rewards in accordance with market
standards to attract and retain high calibre Directors and

The remuneration report details the remuneration other KMP; and

arrangementsfor Key Management Personn@MP). Under 7 Link rewards with the strategic goals and performance of
the Accounting Standards, KMPs are definedhase persons the Group ad the creation of shareholder value (by the
having authorityand responsibilityfor planning, directingand granting of share optionsvhere appropriatg.

controllingthe major activitiesof the Company including any

Director (whether executiveor otherwise). The information regiuneration of the KMP includes consideration of individual

regardingremuneration and entittements of the/ 2 Y LJ y & Seaﬁormance in addition to the overall performana# the
Board and KMRequired for the purposes of Section 300A of DNR dzLI® | AZG2NAOFffesS (GKS DNER

the Act is provided below.

The policy for determining the nature and amount of

by a range of financial and production indicato@irrently
(a) Directors and Other Key Management Personnel the remuneration of KMPs is dependent upon achievement

Thefollowing personswere Directors ofthe Companyduring of progress towards a number of company objectives:

the financial year antbr up until the date of this reportinless 1 company funding;

statedotherwise: 1 progress towards the development of ti@laHamza Zinc
Executive and NotExecutive Directors Project (including delivery of revisecihitive Feasibility

Mr F Sheng (ChaiNon-Independent) Sudy, fundingand transition towards development);

Mr M Kennedy (Deputy Chaitndependent) 1 progress towards the development of the Bird in Hand
Mr A Siciliano (Noindependent) @oIdAProject (includilngprogressthja gugicial Review of
Mr K McGuinness (Indepenad) UKS aAyAauSNDa RSOAasfany 2
MsL Shi (Independent) 7 growing the/ 2 Y LJI afsetQ a

Mr J Zhangindependent) (d) Use of Remuneration Consultants

The following persons are also Key Management Persafnel ~ From time-to-time the Nominations and Remuneration
the Group: Committee may seek external remuneration advies

Other KeyManagementPersonnel required. Nosuch advice was obtained during tiear.

Mr M Janes (Executive Officer) (e) Remuneration Report Approval
Mr A van Driel (Finance Manager and Company Secretary) At the lastAnnual General Meeting held @1 May 203, the

Remuneration Report for the financial year endirdd

(b)  Nominations andRemuneration Committee December 202was approved by shareholders (99% voted

The Nominations and Remuneration Commltte_ammmlttee for the resolution).

of the Board The current membersf the committee are Mr K _ _ _

McGuinness (Chair), Mr M Kennedy andA#iciliano. (f) Executive Remuneration and Incentives

TheCommittee is responsible tassist theBoard to: I.  FixedRemuneration

 ensure itis of an effective commitmentompositionand The fixed portion of Executive remuneration packages
sizeto adequately discharge itesponsibilities and duties; ~ comprisea base salary,statutory superannuation payment
and and FBTcharges related to employee benefits, suabcar
complieswith remunerationpolicies that: are reviewed,where possible,annuallyby the Nominations
- attract, retain and motivate high calibre Directors and and RemunerationCommittee. Thereview processincludes

KMP so as to enhance performanisg the Company; considerationof both individualperformanceand the overall

- assess the human resource neeafshe Company; and performanceof the Group.
- motivate Directors and management to pursue the l1ong || |ncentives

term growth and success of the Company within an  performancebasedremunerationmayincludeboth short-
appropriate  control framework and ensure that term and longterm incentives and iglesignedto reward
shareholder and employee interests are aligned. KMPfor meeting or exceeding key performanicelicators
(©) Remuneration Policy and Practices 0 Yt I © @néydinclude financial metrics ancbmpletion

Thisreport outlinesthe remunerationarrangementsfor KMPof of key group objectives.TheBoardmay from time-to-time
the Companylt is recognised that thperformance othe approvethe award ofsuchincentivessubjectto satisfaction
ofYt LQao®
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The shoriterm incentive (STl)is Yy &l G NR &7 ¢
be provided in the form of casind/or equity securitiesLong
term incentivesmay be providedunderthe TerraminAustralia
Employee Option Plan (EOFhe Directorsmay grant options
to employeesto acquire sharesat an exercisgrice set by the
Board. Eachoption convertsinto one ordinary share of the
Companywhen exercised.Thegrantof optionsis linkedto the
achievement othe / 2 Y LJI objécfv@s (refer item (c) of the
remunerationreport) andthe creationof shareholderwalue.

lll. Employment Contracts

Mral NIAY WFySas GKS /2YLIl yeQa
a consulting contract in January 2020 on angming basis,
which either the Company or Mr Janes may terminate with 30
days written notice. Under this contract, Mr Janes receives a
weekly retairer of $6,000 (including Superannuation
Guarantee Contributions) for 3.5 days of service per week.

Mr André van Drielcommenced his employment with the
Company on 9 August 2018, and appointed Gempany
Secretary on 6 March 202(His employment contract t&no
fixedterm andreceives an annual salary af@,000(including
superannuation). Mr van Driel may terminate the agreement by
LINE GARAY 3 n , dohévdr,at® Cofrpany &y

. < . mpan
terminate the agreement by providing 6 SS1 aQ y 2 U AP §xec'ﬁ£t)i%ﬁ

payment in lieu.

Unless agreed otherwise by the&d, terminationpayments
of any Executive®r employeesare not payable inthe instance
of resignationor dismissafor seriousmisconduct.

(¢)]

I. Remuneration
The maximum aggregate fees payabl&litan-Executive Directors

Directors Remuneration

is subject to approval by shareholders at a general meeting. Ao nes

securities issued to Directors andelated parties must be
approved by shareholdeet a general meeting.

Non-Executive Directors are either paid a base fets
superannuation oremunerated via contractuaarrangements
approved by the Board and negotiateddonsultation with the
Nominations and Remuneration Committeghe current Non
Executive base fees (other théges for theChair and Deputy
Chair) are $40,0D per annum.The Chair and Deputy Chair
receive $100,000 and $60,000 per annuaspectively.The
non-executiveR A NB @éspaidae consistent with fees paid
to non-executive directors of comparabt®mpanies. Company
policy supports the issue, whereppropriate, of equity
securities to Directors (whether Executive or NErecutive) to
KSf LJ Sy & dzNiBtereSts\ & Qign2d\kitl those of
AKI NBK2f RSNA® ¢KS . 21 NR KI a
during thereporting period.

The aggregate feespayable to Directorsduring 203 was
$275,000 (with$1,162500(2022: $887,500) remainingunpaid at
reporting date) compared tahe maximum limit approved by
shareholders at the 2010 Annual Genédvigeting of $700,000.

I i NN

IN<AMN il

IR T T &2
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oardrecogniseghat from time-to-time, Non-Executive

o 2Breetors gr galgdk upanitgsprovide servicesaddition to

G§KSANI dzadzl £  BceaxdBglyiDAedrs mal el A S
compensated for additional dutiamdertaken at theequest
of the Board, forinstance extensive travel toAlgeria or
meetings with overseasinvestors. In accordance with
Company policy additionalompensation of up to $1,000 per
day may be providedo Directors forwork additional to
standard Board duties. This form of NorExecutive
compensation is onlyprovided in circumstances where
Directors are required tecommittime beyond thatexpected
of a NorrExecutiveDirector_role and .requires eontinyous, .

cohfitner i f‘o@rﬁoremgygdﬁi%ﬁdf‘rgmu%}%ﬁoﬁ Mé@ RA

be paid in sharesn lieu of cashsubject to shareholer
approval.

During 2@3, no adlitional fees were paid to NeExecutive
Directors in relation towork outside of standardBoard
duties.

Il. Director Options
There were no options or otheequity securities issued to
Directors during the year agmuneration.

lll. Retirement or other PosEmployment Benefits

The Co has no policy to provide benefits tDitectors
ubon their retirement or otherwise upon
cessatiorof employment,other than by making thestatutory
superannuatiorguaranteecontributionsas requiredby law.

IV. Board and CommitteesMembership and
Remuneration

The following table sets out the Chair and members of

each committee and the annual fees allocated for each

position.

Chair Deputy Member

Fee Chair Fee

$ Fee $ $

Director fee by role 100,000 60,000 40,000

Non-standard Board dutiés 1,000/day 1,000/day 1,000/day

Audit, Riskand Compliance
K McGuinness (Chair), M

KennedyA Siciliano 7,500 - 5,000
Nominationsand Remuneration
K McGuinness (Chair), M 75500 ) .00

KennedyASiciliano

DueDiligence
K McGuinness (Chair), M
Kennedy

1. Subject to Board approval to compensate for work undertaken in

FRRAGAZY (G2 &0l yRIFENR 5ANBOG2NDA
morecjays . _ o L
y20i LI AR RANBOG2NDA TS5Sa Ay
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During theyear,the following cash and nenash payments were made to the Key Management Personnel:

Short Term Benefits LongTerm PostEmployment Sharebased Payments Total
Benefits
Key Management Personnel Salaryand  Contract Annual and Long Superannuation Termination SHETE % of
Fees Payments Servicé Benefits Benefits Options Total
$ $
Directors
M Kennedy 2023 - 70,000 - - - - 0.0% 70,000
2022 63,348 - - 6,652 - - 0.0% 70,000
ASiciliano 2023 - 50,000 - - - - 0.0% 50,000
2022 - 50,000 - - - - 0.0% 50,000
K McGuinness 2023 - 55,000 - - - - 0.0% 55,000
2022 - 55,000 - - - - 0.0% 55,000
FSheng 2023 - 100,000 - - - - 0.0% 100,000
2022 - 100,000 - - - - 0.0% 100,000
L Shi 2023 - - - - - - 0.0% -
2022 - - - - - - 0.0% -
J Zhany 2023 - - - - - - 0.0% -
2022 - - - - - - 0.0% -
KeyManagement Personnel
M Janes 2023 - 258,991 - 23,009 - - 0.0% 282,000
2022 - 271,493 - 28,507 - - 0.0% 300,000
A van Driel 2023 139,572 - 13,095 15,015 - - 0.0% 167,682
2022 122,727 - 9,386 12,580 - - 0.0% 144,693
TORL 2023 139,572 533,991 13,095 38,024 - - - 724,682
2022 186,076 476,493 9,386 47,738 - - - 719,693
1. Refer to table abovead subparagraph (g) gpages 11-12) fordetails2 ¥ 5 A FeBsélldcatédiyrole
2. Represents the movements in the associated provisions
3. Ms L Shiceased as Nexrecutive Director of the Company on 6 July 2023.
4. MrJ Zhang commenced as Nexecutive Director of the Company on 6 July 2023.

() Keymanagement personnel shares and options over equity instruments

Themovementduringthe reportingperiodin the numberof ordinarysharesor optionsoverordinarysharesn the Companyy each
Key Management Personnislas follows:

Shares

ShareBalance  Shares held priorto  SharesAcquired Sharedssuedas Cessation as Shares Balance

Key Management Personnel

1Jan3 commencing as KMP during Year Remuneration KMP 31 Dec 3

Parent Entity Directors

M Kennedy 5,246,107 - - - - 5,246,107
ASiciliano 10,000,000 - - - - 10,000,000
K McGuinness 2,698,108 - - - - 2,698,108
FSheng 827,469,670 - - - - 827,469,670
L Shi - - - - - R

J Zhang - - - - - -

OtherKeyManagementPersonnel

M Janes 125,974 - - - - 125,974
A van Driel - - - - - -

Total 845,539,859 - - - - 845,539,859
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() Shares and Options Issued or Lapsed during the
Year

No sharesor optionswere grantedto Nonexecutive Directors

or other KMPs as remuneration during tigear. No shareor

optionslapsedduring the year

ol

(k) Key Management Personnel transactions
SomeKMP, or their related parties, hold positions in other

entities that result in them having control or significant

influence over the financial or operating pads of those
entities. These entities transacted with the Group in the

reporting period. Thetermsand conditionsof the transactions
were no more favourablethan thoseavailable,or which might

reasonablybe expectedto be available on similar transactions
to non-Director related entities on ah NJvléhgthbasis.

At 31 December 2IB, Asipac owned 397% of the adinary
shares in Terramin (22: 39.07%) and is controlled by Mr
Sheng who is Executive Chair of the Company.Siitiano is
the Chef Financial Officer of Asipac.

Director and other KMHees oustanding as at 31 December
2022 include:

Key Management Personnel 2022 2022
M Kennedy 280,000 210,000
ASiciliand 212500 162,500
KMcGuinness 220,000 165,000
FSheng 450,000 350,000
J Zhany

Total for Directors 1,162500 887,500
M Jane&® 124,757 180,000
Total 1,287,257 1,067,500

1. Mr Kennedy, Mr Siciliand/r McGuinnessaind Ms Share NonExeutive
Directors of the Company

2. MrJanes is Executive Officer of the Company

3. Mr JanesSbutstanding fees includes superannuation

Otherrelated partytransactions are disclosed at no2é.

(h  Share Trading Policies

All Company employees and contractors, Directors and

Executives are subject to the 2 Y LJ- $har@TaadingPolicy
(available on the/ 2 Y LJI webdiél www.terramin.com.al)

with respectto limiting their exposureto riskin relationto the

[ 2 Y LJ sé@fids,including securities issued as element
of Executive remuneratiorthe/ 2 Y LJI $har€eadingPolicy
requires all officers, employeesdconsultantso the Company
to notify the Chairand CompanySecretaryof any intention to

dealinthe / 2 Y LJI sé@@ias, whether by sale or purchase

of shares on market, or the exercise of optioitie notified

dealing issubjectto the approval ofthe Chair.In addition, and

in accordance wittASX Listing Rule 12, the2 Y LJI tyadirtg a
policy provides that alDirectors, officers and consultants are
prohibited from trading in the/ 2 Y LJI geéufltiés during

specific periods.

eagrd 0 ’ﬁrs that, in light of the size and structure of
t paM e absence of secondarymarket for the

I 2 Y LJ ysécQries, this policy provides adequate
protection against unauthorised dealingsby Directors and
specified Executives, in particular in relation to risk mitigation.

Thecurrent Sharetrading policy was approved by theBoard
on 9April 2015.

End ofAudited Remuneration Report
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Indemnification of Directors and Officers

5 A NB & iy RNBhOFLEWIlIE Snsdafice has been subscribed The Officers of the Company and the Graugveredby the
insurancepolicyincludes anyersonactingin the courseof dutiesfor the Companyor the Groupwho is orwasa Director, Secretary
or SeniorExecutiveThecontract of insuranceprohibits the disclosureof the nature of the liability coveredand the amount of the
premium.TheGrouphas nototherwise,duringor sincethe endof the period, indemnified or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor
of the Group or any related body corporate against a liability incurred astsuah officer orauditor.

Non-audit Services

The Company may decide to employ the auditor, Grant Thormonrassignments additional to their statutory audit duties where the

I dZRAG2ND& SELISNIA&ES yR SELISNASYOS gAiGK GKS /2YLIye I|theRk 2
FdzZRAG2NI F2NJ y2ynl dzZRA G & SNPoutd&aw. LINE A RSR RdzZNAYy3I GKS &SIF NI
The Board obirectors has considered the position, and in accordance with advice received from the Audit and Risk Committee
aFrGAAFASR KFG GKS LINP@GAAAZ2Y 2F GKS y2ynl dRAG addiddsthiopdsed A &
by the Corporations Act 2001. TR NSOl 2NA | NB al §AaFASR GKIG (KS LINRPGAAAZY
not compromise the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the follozeisgns:

- Fff y2ymnkdzZRAG aSNIBAOSE KI@FS 06SSy NBGASGSR o0& (GKS | dZRAG
objectivity of the auditor;
- none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence ag seARES 110 Code of Ethics for

Professional Accountants.

5 dzNA y 3 KS FN) GKS F2¢t¢

ff2 §SNBE LI AR 2NJ LI askradafed F
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2023 2022
Non-assurance serves PQn s $'000
Tax advice and compliance services 14 3
Total 14 3

l dZRAG2NNRAE AYRSLISYRSYOS RSOfFINYGAZ2Y

The! dzZRA (2 ND& L y RS LIS ytReS¢adéhded SlDedermtier(?B carnybe Toa@nbn page 17 and forms part of the
5 A NB @épariNa Q

Litigation

As at the date of this report, no person has applied to the Court under section 237 Attlier leave to bringproceedings omehalf

of the Companyor intervenein any proceedinggo whichthe Companyis a party for the purpose oftakingresponsibilityon behalf of

the Company ofll orany part of those proceedings. N@roceedingshave been brought or intervened in on behalf of the Company
with leave of the Court under section 237 of thet.

Rounding

The Company isof akindrefedtoin! { L/ / 2 NLJ2 NI GA 2y & 0O w2 diéders)lastruinght 2016/91 ¢nd inl-
accordance with the instrument, amounts in the financial report have been roumdietb the nearestthousanddollars, unless
otherwisestated.

Signedn Adelaidethis 19" day ofMarch2024 in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors.

Feng(Bruce)Sheng KevinMcGuinness
Executive Chair NonExecutive Director
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TheDirectors of theCompany declarthat:

1.

4.

the financial statements and notes, as set outpages22-42, andthe remuneration disclosures contained pagesl1-14 of
i KS 5 ARePod, a2 MAdordance with the Corporatidws 2001, and:

a. comply withAustralianAccounting Standard@ncluding the Australian Accounting Inpgetations)and the Corporations
Regulations 2001; and

b. give atrue and fair view of the financjbsition as at 31 December 2Band of the performance for the ye@ndedon
that date ofthe consolidatedentity;

the Executive Officer arieinance Managenave each declared that:

a. the financial records of the Company for the financial year have been properly maintained in accordance with section 2&
of the Corporations Act 2001;

b. the financial statements and notes ftire financial year comply with the Accounting Standards;

c. the declaration is provided in accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 and is founded on a sour
system of risk management and internal control and that the system is operatingtieély in all material respects in
relation to financial reporting risks; and

d. the financial statements and notes for the financial year give a true and fair view;

Ay G(GKS S5ANBOGZ2ZNEQ 2LIAYA2YS GKSNB | NB Ndble ta pay its adbtS as AndRvidey R &
they become due and payable;

the consolidated financial statements comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in note 2(a).

This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Bddbirectors.

Feng(Bruce)Sheng KevinMcGuinness
Executive Chair NonExecutive Director
19March2024 19 March2024
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Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd
Grant Thomton House

Lewel 3

170 Frome Sirest

Adelaide SA 5000

GPO Box 1270

Adelaide SA 5001

T +31 B B372 8866

Auditor’s Independence Declaration

To the Directors of Terramin Australia Limited

In accordance with the requirements of section 307C of the Corporationz Act 2001, as lead auditor for the awdit
of Terramin Ausiralia Limited for the year ended 31 December 2023, | declare that, to the best of my knowledge
and belief, there have been:

a no coniraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the
audit; and

b no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

GRANT THORNTOMN AUDIT PTY LTD
Chartered Accountants

warw_grantthornton com.au
ACHI30 =3 B4

Grant Tnomion Audit Py Lid ACN 130 913 584 3 subsidiary o related enfity of Grant Thomion Australia Limited ABM 41 127 556 389 ACN 127 556 359,
‘Grant Thombon' refers bo Te brand under which e Grani Thomion member firms provide assurance, B and advisory senvices o heir clents andior
refers 1o ane of more memiber fmms, as hie context requires. Grant Thomion Australia Limited is a member firm of Grand Thomton Inlemational Lid (GTIL).
GTIL and e memzer firms are not 3 workdwide parinerstip. GTIL and each member §mm is a separaie kegal entity. Senvices are delivered by the member
firms. GTIL does nal provide services 1o clents. GTIL and its member s are not agents of, and do not cbligale one another and are not liakie for one
anathers acls of omissions. In the Australian context enly, hie use of e ferm ‘Grant Thomion' may reder bo Grant Thomon Ausiralia Limited ABM £1 127
556 389 ACN 127 556 389 and its Austalian subsitiaries and related entifes. Liability limied by a scheme approved under Prodessional Standards
Legisiation.
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o GrantThornton

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Lid
Grant Thomton House

Lewsl 3

170 Frome Street

Adelaide SA 5000

GPO Box 1270

Adelaide SA 5001

T +81 B 5372 6066

Independent Auditor's Report

To the Members of Terramin Australia Limited
Report on the audit of the financial report

Crpinion

We have audited the financial report of Terramin Australia Limited (the Company} and its subsidiaries (the
Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial pesition as at 31 December 2023, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consclidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the Directors’
declaration.

In our opinien, the accompanying financial report of the Group is in accordance with the Corporafions Act
2001, including:

a giving a true and fair view of the Group's financial position as at 31 December 2023 and of its
performance for the year ended on that date; and

b complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Reguiations 2001.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Stamdards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibiliies for the Audif of the Financial Report section
of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the auditor independence requirements
of the Corporations Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical
Standards Board's APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including independence
Sfandards) (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled
our other ethizal responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinicn.

warw grantthornton.com_au
ACHA3 #1334

Grant Thomion Audit Pty Lid ACM 130 913 554 a subsidiary of related entity of Grant Thamion Ausiralia Limited ABN 41 127 556 389 ACN 127 556 389,
'Gramt Thombon® refers bo e brand under which e Gram Thamion member fimns peovide assurance, B and advisory services o their dients andior
refers o one of more memiber $ms, as he context requires. Grant Thomion Ausiralia Limied i a membser firm of Grant Thombon Inlemational Lid (GTIL).
GTIL and Te memier firms are not 3 woridwide partnerstip. GTIL and each member $m is a separabe legal entity. Senices are delivened by T2 memiber
firmes. GTIL does not provide senices 1o clients. GTIL and its member $ms are not agents of, and do not cbligale ane another and are not labie for one
anather's acls of omissions. In the Australian comest only, e use of e term ‘Grant Thomion' may reser to Grant Thomion Ausiralia Limited ASMN 41127
556 389 ACN 127 556 389 and its Austalian subsidiaries and relabed enfities. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards
Legislation.

18



I il 2l
NN SR N
NI TYIL] 2>
IS S i) 2 TERRAMIN
S TEN.. W s>
s K A2 2~ |||| N ~

Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attention to Mote 2(c) in the financial statements, which indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of
$68.4M during the year ended 31 December 2023, and as of that date, the Group’s curment liabilities exceeded its
current assets by $47.7M. As stated in Mote 2(c). these events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth
in Mote 2(c), indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concem. Our opinien is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in cur professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial report of the cument period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial
report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.

Im addition to the matter described in the Materal Uncerfainty Relafed to Going Goncem section, we have
determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
Exploration and evaluation assets - Notes 3(k) &

11

At 31 December 2023 the camying value of COwr procedures included, amongst others:

exploration and evaluation assets was 58.127M. L I
R s #» pbtaining the management reconciliation of

In accordance with AASB G Explorafion for and capitalised exploration and evaluation expenditure
Evaluafion of Mineral Resources, the Group is and agre=sing to the general ledger;

required to assess at each reporting date if there are
any triggers for impairment which may suggest the
carrying value is in excess of the recoverable value.

reviewing management's area of interest
considerations against AASB 6;

conducting a detailed review of management's
assessment of trigger events prepared in
accordance with AASB 6 including;

The process undertaken by management o assess
whether there are any impairment triggers in each
area of interest involves an element of management
judgement. — tracing projects io statutory registers, exploration
licenses and third party confirmations to

This area is a key audit matter due to the significant
=Y 4 determine whether a right of tenure existed;

judgement involved in determining the existence of

impairment triggers. — enguiry of management regarding their intentions
to cammy out exploration and evaluation activity in
the relevant exploration area, including review of
management’s budgeted expenditure;

— understanding whether any data exists to
suggest that the carrying value of these
exploration and evaluation assets are unlikely io
be recovered through development or sale;

» assessing the accuracy of impaiment recorded for
the year as it pertained to exploration interests;

» evaluating the competence, capabilites and
objectivity of management's experts in the
evaluation of potential impairment triggers; and

» assessing the appropriateness of the related
financial statement disclosures.

Grant Thomion Acdl Pty Lid 2
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Investment in associate - Motes 3(i) & 12

As at 31 December 2023, the investment in Western
Mediterranean Zinc Spa ("WMZ") has a camying
value is $45.740M.

In accordance with AASB 138 impaiment of Assefs,
the Group is required to assess at each reporting
date if there are any triggers for impaiment which
may suggest the camying value is in excess of the
recoverable value.

The process undertaken by management to assess
whether there are any impairment triggers in each
area of interest involves an element of management
judgement.

This area is a key audit matter due to the significant
judgement involved in determining the existence of
impairment triggers.

Owr procedures included, amongst others:

= pbtaining management’'s reconciliation of the
movemnent in the investment in associate during the
year and agreeing to the general ledger;

» assessing that the change in carrying value of the
investment is in accordance with AASB 128
Investmentsz in Azsociafes and Joint Venfures;

= pbtaining support for a sample of contributions made
to WMZ during the year which has increased the
carrying amount of the investment;

= conducting a detailed review of management's
assessment of tigger events prepared in
accordance with AASB 128 and AASH 138
imcluding:

— enguiring of management regarding current and
subsequent events in relation to the Tala Hamza
project owned by WMZ;

— enguiring of management regarding the curment
status of the project, including review of
management’s budgeted expenditure;

— obtaining key supporting documents referenced
im the impairment trigger analysis;

— understanding whether any data exists to
suggest that the carrying value of the investment
is unlikely to be recovered through development
or sale;

= engaging a component auditor in Algena to perform
specified audit procedures to gain an understanding
of the entity and its environment, including review of
the Tala Hamza project status and progress to
supporting documents; and

» assessing the appropriateness of the related
financial statement disclosures.

Infoermation other than the financial report and auditor's report thereon

The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31 December 2023, but does not include the financial report and

our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with cur audit of the financial report, cur responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materally inconsistent with the financial report or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be matenally misstated.

If. based on the work we hawve performed, we conclude that there is a materal misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing te report in this regard.

Grant Thomton Awdl Pty Lid 3
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Responsibilities of the Directors for the financial report

The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair
view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 and for such intemal
control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true
and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or ermor.

In preparing the financial report, the Directors are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concem, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concemn basis of
accounting unless the Directors either intend to liquidate the Group or fo cease operations, or have no realistic
altemative but to do so.

Auditoer's responsibilities for the audit of the financial report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with the Ausfralian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or emor and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and
Assurance Standards Board website at: http:/fwww.auashb gov.au/auditors responsibilities/ar] 2020.pdf This
description forms part of our auditer's report.

Report on the remuneration report

Opinion on the remuneration report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in the Directors’ report for the year ended 31 December
2023.

Im gur apinion, the Remuneration Report of Teramin Australia Limited, for the year ended 31 December
2023 complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Responsibilities
The Directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the Remuneration Report

in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001, Our responsibility is to express am opinion on the
Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.

GRANT THORNTON AUDIT PTY LTD
Chartered Accountants

Grant Thomion Auds Pty Lid 4
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income

for the YearEnded 31 December 28

Note 2023 2022
P Qn bQn

Revenueand other income 4 106 63
Raw materials, consumables and other direct costs 73 (170
Employee benefits expense (731) (799)
Depreciation and amowuation 10 (715 (731)
Exploration and evaluation expensegirfl in Hand Gol@roject) (150) -
Provision for impairmenof exploration expenditure relating to the Bird in Hand Gold Project 11 - (15,099)
Profit or loss on disposaf inventories (151) 3
Profit on sale of norturrent assets 300 8
Mine rehabilitation obligation expense 15 1,124 271
Share of loss dkssociate; WesternMediterraneanZinc Spa (119 (60)
Other expenses 4 (1,976) (967)
Loss before net financing costs and income tax (2,485 (17,481)
Finance income 6 207 74
Finance costs 6 (4,079 (3,735)
Net finance costs (3,869 (3,661)
Loss before income taftom continuing operations (6,354) (21,142)
Profit for the period from discontinued operations - 13,695
Loss for the period (6,354 (7,447)
Income tax benefit 19 - -
Lossfor the year (6,354 (7,447)
Attributable to:
Owners of the Company (6,354 (7,447)
Non-controlling interest 18 - -
Loss for the year (6,354 (7,447)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Foreign currencyranslation differences for foreign operations - -
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the year, net of income tax - -
Total comprehensive loss for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company (6,354 (7,447)
Attributable to:
Owners of the Company (6,359 (7,447)
Non-controlling interest - -
Total comprehensive loss for the year (6,354 (7,447)
Earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company from continuing operations:

Note 2023 2022
Basic earnings/(loss) per shayécents per share) 27(a) (0.30) (1.00)
Diluted earnings/(loss) per shaggcents per share) 27(b) (0.30) (1.00)
Earnings per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company:

Note 2023 2022
Basic earnings/(loss) per shayécents per share) 27(a) - (0.35)
Diluted earnings/(loss) per shaggcents per share) 27(b) - (0.35)

The Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income is to be read in conjunctiomotesiditee consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 December 26
PAVZA] 2022
Notes $'000 $'000
Assets
Current Assets
Cashandcashequivalents 374 131
Tradeandother receivables 69 127
Otherassets 137 134
Totalcurrentassets 580 392
Non-currentassets
Restricted Cash 7 5,670 5,670
Inventories 8 51 251
Property,plantandequipment 10 5,075 5,746
Explorationandevaluation 11 8,127 8,038
Investment inAssociate; Western Mediterranean Zinc Spa 12 45,746 45,235
Totalnon-currentassets 64,669 64,940
TORLASSETS 65,249 65,332
Liabilities
Currentliabilities
Tradeandother payables 13 1,921 1,483
Shortterm borrowingsand accrued interest 14 46,248 39,690
Provisions 15 84 132
Totalcurrentliabilities 48,253 41,305
Non-currentliabilities
Provisions 15 5,092 5,769
Totalnon-currentliabilities 5,092 5,769
TORLLIABILITIES 53,345 47,074
NETASSETS 11,904 18,258
Equity
Sharecapital 16 223,931 223,931
Reserves 17 (12) 183
Accumulatedosses (212,015 (205,856)
TORLEQUITY 11,904 18,258

The Consolidated Statement of Financial Position is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated fatemzatst
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Consolidated Statement of Chan

for the Year Ended 31 Decembe220

es in Equity

«Q

Share basec Total  Non-controlling
Share payments  Translation Accumulated attributable interest
capital reserve reserve losses  to owners $'000
$'000 bQn $'000 $'000 $'000 (note 18)
Balanceat 1 January2023 223,931 195 (12) (205,856 18,258 - 18,258
Total comprehensive income for the period
Profitfor the year - - - (6,359 (6,359 - (6,359
Othercomprehensivencome
Foreigncurrencytranslationdifferences - - - - - - -
Total other comprehensivencome - - - - - - -
Total comprehensivéncomefor the year - - - (6,359 (6,359 - (6,359
Other equity movements
Deconsolidation of foreign currency translatieserve - - - - - - -
Deconsolidation of nowontrolling interest - - - - - - -
Transfer expiredptionsto retained earnings - (195) - 195 - - -
Total other equity movements - (195) - 195 - - -
Balanceat 31 December2023 223931 - 12 (212,015 11,904 - 11,904

Share basec Total  Non-controlling
Share payments  Translation Accumulated attributable interest

capital reserve reserve losses  to owners $'000
$'000 bQn $'000 $'000 $'000 (note 18)

Balanceat 1 January2022 223,931 195 (9,279)  (192,385) 22,462 13,134 35596

Total comprehensive income for the period
Profit for the year - - 6,024 (13,471) (7,447) - (7,447)
Othercomprehensivencome

Foreigncurrencytranslationdifferences - - - - - - -

Total other comprehensivéncome - - - - - - .

Total comprehensivéncomefor the year - - 6,024 (13,471) (7,447) - (7,447)
Other equity movements

Deconsolidation of foreign currency translation reser - - 3,243 - 3,243 - 3,243
Deconsolidation ohon-controlling interest - - - - - (13,134)  (13,134)
Total contributionsby anddistributions to owners - - 3,243 - 3,243 (13,134) (9,891)
Balanceat 31 December2022 223,931 195 (12) (205,856 18,258 - 18,258

The Consolidated Statement of ChangEguity is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

for the Year Ended 31 DecembeR20

2023 2022

Note $'000 $'000
Cashfrom operatingactivities:
Receipts from customers 119 6
Interestreceived 203 75
Paymentgo suppliersand employees (3,228 (2,109)
Financingostsand interest paid (100) (1112)
Totalcash(used in)operatingactivities 20 (3,009 (2,139)
Cash flows from investingctivities:
Disposal of cast Western Mediterranean Zinc Spa - ?3)
Transfer to restricted cash 7 - (5,670)
Proceeds fronthe saleof non-current assets 307 -
Explorationandevaluationexpenditure (58) (441)
Net cash(usedin) investingactivities 249 (6,114)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeddrom the issueof sharecapital - -
Paymentof transactioncostson equity - -
Proceedgrom borrowings 3,000 2,665
Repayment of borrowings - -
Net cash fronfinancing activities 3,000 2,665
Other activities:
Net increase /(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 243 (5,588)
Net foreign exchange differences - 2
Cash angtashequivalents abeginningof the year (including restricted cash aleposit) 131 5,721
Cash anatashequivalents atend of the year 7 374 131

The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows is to be read in conjunction with the notes to the consolidated financial statements
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements
1. Reporting entity

The consolidated financial statements cover the consolidated
entity of TerraminAustraliaLimitedand its controlled entities
(the Group).TerraminAustralia Limitedis a public company,
listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (ASX)Groupis
primarily involved inthe development of, andexplorationfor,
precious andbase metals (in particular gold, zinc and lead) and
other economicmineraldeposits.

2. Basis of preparation

(a) Statementof Compliance

The consolidated financial statements are general purpose
financial statements that have been preparédaccordance
with Australian Accounting Standards (including Australian
Accounting mterpretations) issued by the Australian
AccountingStandards Board (AASB) and the Corporaticts
2001. The consolidated financiastatements comply with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and
interpretations adopted by the InternationaAccounting
Standards Board (IASB).

TerraminAustrala Limited is a feprofit entity for the purpose
of preparing the financial statements.

Terramin AustraliaLimited is a public company incorporated
and domiciledin Australia.Theaddressof its registered office
i52115 Callington Roa&trathalbyn SA, 255

(b) Basis of Measurement

The financial statements are presented Awistralian dollars
(AUD), have been prepared on an accruals basisare based
on historical costs, except for the provision for mine
rehabilitation measuredat the presentvalue of future cash
flows. TheGroupis of a kind referred to in ASIGCorporations
6w2dzy RAy 3 AY
2016/191 and in accordance with the Instrument, amounts in
the financial report have been roundedff to the nearest
thousanddollars, unless otherwisgtated.

(c) Going Concern

The financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, which contemplates continuity of normal
business activitieandthe realisationof assetsand settlement

of liabilities inthe ordinarycourseof business During 203, the
Group incurred doss of $.4 million andat 31 December 228

the D NB dzuifeat liabilities exceeded its currenassetshy
$47.7 million.

The financial report has been prepared on a g@iogcernbasis
on the expectationthat the Groupcan raiseadditionaldebt or
equityasrequired. TheDirectorsare awareghat additionaldebt

or equity will be required within 12 months, in order to
continue as a going conceriiheD N dahiliydo raise equity
will rely oninvestor confidence in the development or sale of

or investment in theTalaHamza Zinc Project or other assets.
Terramin continues to receive support framajor shareholder,
Asipac, in this regard.Subsequent to the reporting date,
Terramin andAsipaceached agreementb extend the term of
the Finance Facilities from 31 January 2024 to 31 July 224 (
Announcement on 30 January 2024: Finance Facility Update

Furthermore, the Group has been sessful in securing an
investment of US$6.68 million (approximately A$10 million)
from a strategic investor through the issue of a Convertible
Note subsequent to the Reporting PeriddSX Announcement
on 2 January 202: Terramin secures US$6.68 million
investmeny;

The Directors notethat the matters outlined aboveindicatea
material uncertainty,which may cast significardoubt onthe
ability of the Group to continue as a going concern and
thereforeit maybe unableto realiseits assetsanddischargets
liabilitiesin the normal course of businessAt the date of this
report, the Directors believethat the Group has adequate
resourcesto continue to explore, evaluate and develop the
D NR dateigsafinterest and support to date from Asipaill
ensure the Company has sufficient funde meet its
obligations.Subjectto market conditions theDirectorsbelieve
there are reasonablegroundsto concludethat the Company
will beableto raisefundsby way ofdebt and/orequity to fund
anticipated activitiesand meet financial obligations. For the
reasons outlinechbove,the Boardhaspreparedthe Financial
Reporton a goingconcernbasis.

(d) Use of Estimates and Judgements

The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with
AASBrequires managementto make judgements, estimates
and assumptionghat affect the application of accounting
policies and theeported amounts of assetdjabilities, income
and expensedActual results mayliffer from these estimates.
Estimates and uterlying assumptions are reviewed oan
ongoing basis. Revisions t@accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revisediin
any futureperiods affected.

C ARgpongsP Alhstruméns NBIO piagtidularGnformation about significant areas estimation

uncertainty and critical judgements in applyingccounting
policies that have the most significant effech the amounts
recognised in the financial statements are described in the
following notes:

1 Note 3¢) ¢ Property, Plant and Equipment: assessment of
recoverable amount

T  Note 3() ¢ Exploration and Evaluation Expenditure:
recoverableamountand ore reserveestimates.

1  Note 3(M) ¢ Provisionsestimatedcostof rehabilitation,
decommissioningnd restoration.

T Note 3() ¢ Recognitionof tax losses:assessment othe

point in time at whichit is deemedprobablethat future
taxableincomewill be derived.
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In preparing this financial report, the significant judgements
YIRS o0& YIryFr3asSySyid Ay
policies and the key source$ estimation uncertainty were the
same as those applied to the financial statements as at and for
the year ending 31 December 282

(e) New or amended Accounting Standards and
Interpretations adopted
The consolidated entity has adopted all of the nevaorended
Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the
Australian Accounting Standards Board ('AASB') that are
mandatory for the current reporting period. Any new or
amended Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not
yet mandatory have niobeen early adopted.

3. Material accounting policies

(a) Basis of Consolidation

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Parent
Company and all of its seldiaries as of 31 DecemberZ8)The
Parent controls a subsidiary if i exposedpr hasrights, to
variablereturns from its involvement withthe subsidiaryand
hasthe ability to affectthosereturnsthroughits power ovethe
subsidiary. All subsidiaries have a reporting date of 31
December. All transactions and balances between Group
companies are eliminated on consolidation, including
unrealised gainsand losseson transactionsbetween Group
companiesWhereunrealisedosseson intra-group assetsales
are reversedon consolidation,the underlying assetis also
tested for impairment from a Group perspectiveAmounts
reported in the financial statementsf subsidiariehave been
adjusted wherenecessaryto ensure consistencywith the
accountingpoliciesadopted by the Group.

Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidsarie
acquiredor disposedf duringthe yearare recognisedrom the
effective date of acquisition,or up to the effective date of
disposal,as applicableNon-controlling interestspresented as

remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount

I LILX & ArgcapnisgdinIrofibaq@sgz Jhia fairivaiue beggynésxhg mitial

carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting
for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously receghi

in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the
related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profior loss.

If the ownership interest in a joint venture or an associate is
reduced but joint control or significant influence is retained,
only a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to
profit or loss where appropriate.

(c) Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cashand cashequivalentsincludecashon hand, deposits held
at call with banks and other shortterm highly liquid
investmentswith originalmaturitiesof three monthsor less.

(d) Inventories

Noncurrent  inventories represent spare parts and
consumableswhich are not expectedto be used within 12
months. Inventories are valued at lower of cost and net
realisable value.

(e) Trade and Other Receivables

Tradeand other receivableare recognise@t cost andcarried
at original invoice amount less allowances fonpairment
losses.

The group applies the AASB 9 simplified approachdasuring
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables. To meastire expected
credit losses, trade receivables and contract assets have beer
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the
days past due.

part of equity, represent the portiorof ad dzo & A prdfit oNE Q &f) Property, Plant and Equipment

loss and netassetsthat is not held bythe Group.The Group
attributes total comprehensivancomeor loss of subsidiaries
between the owners ofthe parent and the non-controlling
interestsbasedon their respectiveownershipinterests.

(b) Principles of consolidation and equity accounting
relating to changes in ownership interest
The Group treats transactions with n@ontrolling interests
that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with equity
owners of the Group. A change iwiership interest results in
an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the controlling
and noncontrolling interests to reflect their relative interest in
the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the
adjustment to noncontrolling interestsand any consideration
paid or received is recognised in a separate reserve within
equity attributable to owners of the subsidiary.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an
investment because of loss of control, joint control or
signifcant influence, any retained interest in the entity is

Property
Freeholdland is measureat cost and buildings areneasured
at cost lesglepreciationandany impairment losses recognised.

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are measuredn the cost basis less
depreciation and any impairment losses recognised.

Thedepreciable amount of affroperty, plant and equipment,
excluding freehold land, is depreciated arstraightline basis
over their useful lives to the Grouppmmencingrom the time
the asset is held ready fanse down to any residuafalue, as
determined bythe Group.

The depreciation rates used fernch clas of depreciable asset
is the lesser of the rate determinelly thelife of the mining
operation and theassetThe | & a @sid@aDvalues and useful
lives are reviewed, andadjusted if appropriate, at each
reporting date.

27



(g) Impairment of Assets

Non-financial Assets

At eachreporting date, the Groupreviewsthe carrying values
of its nonfinancial assets to determine whethdéhnere is any
indication that those assetshave beenimpaired. If suchan
indication exists,the recoverable amount of the asset is
determined andcomparedto the | & & Saiirgng valueAny
excess of thé & a &iryihgvalueoverits recoverableamount
isrecognisedasan expense in the profit or loss.

Whereit isnot possibleto estimatethe recoverableamount of

an individual assetthe Group estimates the recoverable
amount of thecashgenerating unit (CGU) to which the asset
belongs.A CGU is the smallest identifiable asset group that
generates cash flows thaargelyare independentfrom other
assetsand groups. Inpairment losses recognised in respect of
/ D | dedallocated firstto reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill allocatedo the unitsandthen to reducethe carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit (groupwfits)on apro
rata basis. Animpairmentlossis reversedif the reversalcanbe
related objectivelyto an event occurringifter the impairment
losswasrecognisedAnimpairmentlossis reversed only to the
extent that thel & & Saiirgg amount doesnot exceedthe
carrying amount that would havebeen determined, net of
depreciation or amortisationif no impairment loss had been
recognised, with the exception that any previously impaired
goodwill should not be reecognised

Financial Assets

¢KS DNRdAzZLIQa FAYLlFYyOALlf | astagla
expected credit loss model. Each class of financial asset is
considered for impairment based on their credit risk profile (as
disclosed imote 23(2).

Recoverable Amount

In assessingwhether the carrying amount of an asset is
impaired, the | & & Rdirgidg value is compared with its
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of a non
financial asset or CGU is thgreater of their fair value or
realisablevalue less costs of disposaland value in use. In
assessingpir value,or valuein use,estimatesandassumptions
includingthe appropriate rate at which to discount cash flows,
the timing of the cash flows, expected life of the relevant area
of interest, exchangerates, commaodity prices, orereserves,
future capitalrequirementsand future operatingperformance
are used.The recoverable amount of an asset or O@l be
impactedby changesn theseestimatesand assumptions which
could resultin anadjustmentto the carrying amount of that
asset or CGU

(h) Ore Reserves
Economicallyecoverableore reservegepresentthe estimated
guantity of productin an area ofnterestthat can be expected
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5 — to be profitably extracted, processeashd sold under current
Motor vehicles 18- 250 andforeseeableeconomicconditions.Thedeterminationof ore
Computer and office equipment 10-50% reservesincludesestimates andassumptionsabout a rangeof
Plantand equipment 10-33% geologicaltechnicaland economidactors,including quantities,
Buildingsand other infrastructure 5-33% grades, productiontechniques, recovery rates, production

costs,transport costs,commoditydemand,commodity prices
and exchange rates. Changes inJAlR 2 @edéseneimpacts
the assessment ofecoverabilityof explorationand evaluation
assetsproperty,plant andequipmentand intangible assetthe

carryingamountsof assetslepreciated oraunits of production

basis, provisionsfor site restoration and the recognition of

deferredtax assetsjncludingtax losses.

() Investments in Associates and Joint Arrangements
Associatesare those entities over which the Group is able to
exert significaninfluence but which are not subsidiaries.

A joint venture is an arrangementthat the Group controls
jointly with one or more other investors,and over which the
Group has rights to a share of theNNJ y 3 $ief BisbeisQ a
ratherthandirectrightsto underlyingassetsand obligationsfor
underlyingliabilities. A joint arrangementin whichthe Group
has direct rights to underlying assets and obligations for
underlying liabilities is classified ag@t operation.

Investmentsn associategndjoint venturesare accountedfor
usingthe equity method. Under the equity method, the share of
profits or losses of the associate is recognised in profit or loss anc
the share of the movements in equity is recognisedother
comprehensive income. Investments in associates are carried ir
the statement of financial position at cost plus pesiquisition
OKly3dSa Ay (KS Oz2yaztARIGSR
associate.

Interestsin joint operations are accouerd for by recognising
theNIBNPAdda86BES (hdluding? its ! shafe. of anQ asseisKnsith
jointly), its liabilities (including its share of any liabilities
incurred jointly), its revenuefrom the saleof its shareof the
output arisingfrom the joint operation, its share of revenue
from the sale of the output by the joint operation and its
expenses (including its share of expenses incujoidly).

Any goodwill or fair value adjustment attributable to the

D N2 d=#hdfe éin the associate or joint venture is metognised
separately and is included in the carrying amount of the
investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for
impairment.

Thecarryingamount of the investmentin associategnd joint
venturesis increasedor decreasedo recognisethe D N2 dzLJC
share of the profit or loss and otheomprehensivéencomeof

the associate andoint venture, adjusted wherenecessanyto
ensureconsistencywith the accounting policiesf the Group.
Unrealised gains and losses on transactions betvikeGroup

and its associatesand joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the D NR dzhd€l€st in those entities. Where
unrealisedlossesare eliminated, the underlying assets also
testedfor impairment.
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Specifically, Widends received or receivable from associates
reduce the carrying amount of the investment. When the
O2yaz2f ARIFIGSR SyiArdeQa akl NB
exceeds its interest in the associate, including any unsecured
longterm receivables, th consolidated entity does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or
made payments on behalf of the associate. The consolidated
entity discontinues the use of the equity method upon loss of
significant influence over the assoma@nd recogres any
retained investment at its fair value. Any difference between
GKS 3da20AF3S8SQa OFNNEBAY3I Y2
investment and proceeds from disposal is recegdiin profit

or loss.

() Discontinued operations

A discontinuedoperation is a component of the consolidated
entity that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale
and that represents a separate major line of business or
geographical area of operations, is part of a single coordinated
plan to dispose of sica line of business or area of operations,
or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. The
results of discontinued operations are presented separately on
the face of the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

(k) Explomtion and Evaluation Expenditure

Exploration and evaluation costs, including the costs of
acquiringlicensesare capitalisedasexplorationand evaluation
assets (E&E assets) on an areairkrest basispending
determination of the technical feasibility and commercial
viability of the project. When alicense expires and is not
expected to be renewed, is relinquished or a project is
abandonedtherelatedcostsare recognised in the profit or loss
immediately. With respect to theTalaHamza Zinc Project, all
exploration and evaluation costs incurred from February 2018
(at which time the explorationlicensewasnot renewed) until
May 2023 (at which time the Mining Permit was issugdave
been expensed.

Tangibleand intangibleE&Eassetdhat are availablefor use are
depreciated (amortised) over their estimated useful lives. Upon
commencement of production, thaccumulatedcostsfor the
relevantarea of interest are amortised ovéhne life of the area
accordingo the rate of depletion ofthe reserves.

E&E assets areassessedfor impairment whenany of the
followingfactsandcircumstancegxist:

1 The term of the exploration license in the specdiea of
interest has expired duringthe reporting period or will
expire inthe nearfuture, andnot expectedto be renewed;
Substantiveexpenditure on further exploration for and
evaluation of mineral resources in the specdireaare not
budgetednor planned;

Explorationfor and evaluation ofmineral resourcesin the
specific area havaot led to the discovery of commercially
viablequantitiesof mineralresourcesandthe decisionwas
madeto discontinuesuchactivities in the specified area; or
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9 Sufficient data exists to indicate that, although a
development in the specific area ligely to proceed, the

2 T carty®dgaddsidt of theyexplondtionlarit &vAl@doh dsst isS |j

unlikelyto berecoveredn full from successfulievelopment
or by sale.

E&Eassets ardransferredto developmentassets oncethe
technical feasibility and commercialviability of an area of
interest can be demonstrated.E&E assets areassessedor
impairment, and anyimpairment loss is recognised prior to

being reclassified. } ~ L o
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Prelicence expenditure and expenditure deemed to be

unsuccessful is recognisadthe profit or loss immediately.

(I) Trade and Other Payables
Tradepayables and other payables are statadamortised
cost.

(m) Provisions

Provisionsare recognisedwhen the Group has a legal or
constructiveobligation, asaresultof pastevents,for whichit is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and
that outflow can be reliably measured.

Site restoration liability

A provision is recognised for the estimated cost of
rehabilitation, decommissioningand restoration relating to
areasdisturbed during operation of th&ngas Zinc Mine up to
reporting date but not yet rehabilitated.

The provision isbased uponcurrent cost estimates andhas
been determined on a discounted basis with reference to
currentlegalrequirementsandtechnology.

Asthe provisionrepresentghe discountedvalueof the present
obligation, using a préax rate that reflects current market
assessments and the risks specific to liability, the increase
in value of the provision dueto the passageof time will be
recognised as a borrowing cost in the praditlossin future
periods.Theprovisionisrecognisedasa non-current liability (in
line with expected timescales fahe work to be performed),
with acorrespondingssettakento account ancamortisedover
the life of the mine. At eachreporting date the rehabilitation
liability is reviewed and remeasuredin line with changesin
discount rates timing and the amounts of the coststo be
incurred based on area of disturbance the reporting date.
Changesin the liability relating to the reassessmentof
rehabilitation estimates arerecognised directly within the
profit or loss.

(n) Employee Benefits

Provision is made for the N2 diddyafor employeebenefits
arising from services rendered by employees tparing date.
Employee benefits that are expected to be settieablly within
oneyearhave beermeasuredat the amounts expectedo be
paidwhenthe liability is settled, plusrelated on-costs.

Theliability for longserviceleaveis recognisedn the provision
for employee benefits and measured as theesentvalue of
expectedfuture paymentsto be made in respectof services
provided upto the reporting date. Consideratioris givento
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future wage and salary levels, experience of employee
departures and periodsof service.Expectedfuture payments
are discounted usingnarket yieldsat the reporting date on
high quality corporate bonds with terms to maturity and
currencythat match,ascloselyas possiblethe estimatedfuture
cash outflows.

Share Basé Payments

TheGroupusesshareoptionsto provideincentivesto directors,
employees and consultants.The Board, upon the
recommendation of the Nominations and Remuneration
Committee, has discretion to determine the number of options
to be offeredto EligibleEmployees(as that term is defined by
the EOP) and the terms upon which they are offered, including
exercise price andrestingconditions.Thefair valueof options

at grant date is independently determined using an option
pricing modelthat constersthe exercise price, theerm of the
option, the share price at grant date and expected price
volatility of the underlying share, the expected dividend yield
and the riskfree interest rate for the term of the option.
Historical volatilityhas been thévasis for determining expected
shareprice volatility as it is assumed that this is indicativie
future trends, which may not eventuat&he life of theoptions

is based on the historical exercise patterns, whictay not
eventuate in thefuture.

Thefair value of options granted is recognised as an expense
with a corresponding increase iequity. The fair value is
measured at grant date and recognisedaasexpense over the
period during which thedirectors, employees or consultants
become unconditionallyentitled to the options (vesting
period).Upon the exercise of options, the balance of the share
based payments reserve relatingttmse options igransferred

to share capital.

The Group uses share rightdo provide incentives to
employees. Share rightare valued at grant date and are
expensedover the vesting periodUpon issue of the share
rightsan increase in equity is recognised.

(o) Loans and Borrowings
Borrowingsarerecognisednitially at fair valuelessattributable
transactioncosts. Subsequento initial recognition,loansand
borrowings are stated at amortisedcost, with any difference
between cost and redemption value being recognised in the
profit or lossover the period of the borrowingson an effective
interest basis. Loans and borrowings with a determinable
paymentdue lessthan twelve monthsfrom reporting date are
classified as current liabilities.

(p) Revenue
To determine whether to recognise revenue, the Group follows
a 5step process:

1. Identifying the contract with a customer

2. ldentifyingthe performance obligations

3. Determining the transaction price

4. Allocating the transaction price to the performance
obligations and

Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s)
are satisfied.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time orrowme,
when (or as) the Group satisfies performance obligations by
transferring the promised goods or services to its customers.

The Group recognises contract liabilities for consideration
received in respect of unsatisfied performance obligations and
reports these amounts as other liabilities in the statement of
financial position. Similarly, if the Group satisfies a performance
obligation before it receives the consideration, the Group
recognises either a contract asset or a receivable in its
statement d financial position, depending on whether
something other than the passage of time is required before
the consideration is due.

(g) Financing Costs

Financing costs include interest payable on borrowings
calculatedusing the effectivénterest method,amortisation of
ancillary costs incurred in connectiavith the arrangement of
borrowings, finance lease charges, and the impact of the
unwind of discount on longerm provisions fowsiterestoration.

Financingcosts incurred imelation to the constructon of any

gualifying asset are capitaliseldiring the period oftime that is

requiredto completeand prepare the assdor its intended use
or sale. Other financing costs are expensed as incurred.

() Foreign Currenciranslation

Funcional and presentationcurrency
ltems included in the financial statements of each of the
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functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the
transactionsForeign exchange gains and losses resulting from
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies at year end exchange rates are generally recognisec
in profit or loss. Foreig exchange gains and losses that relate
to borrowings are presented in the statement of profit or loss,
within finance costs. All other foreign exchange gains and losses
are presented in the statement of profit or loss on a net basis
within other gaind (losses).

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date
when the fair value was determined. Translation differences on
assets and liabilities carried at fair value are repowsdgart of

the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation differences
on nonmonetary assets and liabilities such as equities held at
fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss
as part of the fair value gain or loss and triation differences

on nonmonetary assets such as equities classitisdat fair
value through othercomprehensive income are recognisid
other comprehensive income.
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Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of
which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that

have a functional currency different from the presentation

currency are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

1 assetsandliabilities for eactstatement of financial position
presented a@e translated at the closing rate at tleporting
date,

income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss
and statement of comprehensive income are translated at
average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulatey effect of the rates
prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at theates of the
transactions), and

all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchangélifferences arising from the
translation of any net investment in foreign entities, and of
borrowings and other financial instruments designated as
hedges of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is solany
borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid, the
associated exchange differences are reclassified to profit or
loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign operabn are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

(s) Share Capital

Ordinary shares are classified expuity. Qualifyingtransaction
costsof an equitytransactionare accountedfor asa deduction
from equity, net of anyrelatedincome tax benefit.

() Income Tax

The chargefor current incometax expenseds basedon the
profit for the year adjusted for any neassessableor
disallowed itemsilt is calculatedusingtax ratesthat havebeen
enactedor are substantivelyenactedby the reportingdate.

Deferred tax is accounted for using the liability method in

respectof temporarydifferencesarising betweerthe tax bases
of assetsand liabilities andtheir carrying amounts in the
consolidated financial statements. No deferriedometax will

be recognisedrom the initial recognition of anassetor liability,

excludinga businesscombination, where there is naeffect on

accounting or taxable profit dioss.

Deferredtax is calculatedat the tax ratesthat are expectedto

applyto the periodwhenthe assetisrealisedor liability settled.
Deferred tax is credited in the profit doss excepwhere it
relatesto itemsthat maybe credited directlyto equity,in which
casethe deferredtaxis adjusted directlyagainstequity.

Deferred incomeax assets are@ecognisedo the extent that it
is probable that future tax profits will be availalzgainstwhich
deductibletemporarydifferencescan be utilised.

Determination of future tax profits requiregstimates and

assumptions as to future events and circumstances,in
particular, whether successfuldevelopmentand commercial
exploitation, or alternatively sale, of the respectiveareas of
interest will be achieved. This includes estimates and
judgementsabout commodity prices, ore reserves (notehyy,
exchange rateduture capitalrequirements future operational
performance and the timing of estimated cash flows.

Changesn these estimatesand assumptiors could impact on
the amount and probabilityof estimated taxable profits and
accordingly the recoverability afeferredtaxassets.

The Companyand its Australian subsidiariesare part of an
incometax consolidatedgroupunderthe AustralianTaxLaws

(u) Goods and Services Tax (GST)

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the
amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not
recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. In these
circumstances the GST is recognised part of the cost of
acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of expense.
Receivables and payables in the statement of financial position
are shown inclusive of GST.

Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a
gross basis, excegor the GST component of investing and
financing activities which are disclosed as operating cash flows.

(v) Earnings Per Share

TheGrouppresentsbasicand diluted earningsper share (EPS)
data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is calculated by dividin
the profit or loss attributable toordinary shareholdersof the
Company bythe weighted average numbeof ordinary shares
outstandingduring the period. Diluted EPSs determinedby
adjusting profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders
and weighted aeragenumber of ordinarysharesoutstanding
for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinaryshares, which
comprisesconvertible notes and share options granted to
employeesdirectors,consultantsandother third parties.

(w) Segments

The consolidateéntity has identified its operating segmerits
be its Australianinterests and its Northern African interests,
basedon the different geographicakegionsand the similarity
of assetswithin thoseregions.Thisisthe basison whichinternal
reports are provided to management for assessing
performanceand determininghe allocationof resourceswithin
the consolidatedentity.

A geographicalsegmentis engagedin providing productsor
serviceswithin a particular economic environment and is
subject to risks and returns that are different from those
segmentsoperatingin other economicenvironments.

Segmentnformationispresentedonly inrespectofthe D NB dzLJC
geographical segments, beirgistralia and Northern Africa,
which is the basis of thB N2 dizitdfhal reporting.

(x) Financial Risk Management
TheD NP dattidities expose it to the following risks frothe
use of financial instruments:
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Credit Risk with terms of 12 months or less arneases of lowalue assets.

The risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or
counterparty to a financial instrument failso meet its
contractualobligations.Thisarisesprincipallyfrom short term
cashinvestments.

Liquidity Risk

Therisk that the Groupwill not be able to meet its financial
obligations as they fall dudhe Group manages this exposure
by targeting to haveufficient cash financing facilities available
on demand to meet planned expenditure for a minimum period
of 45 days (refer note 4 for detail on available financing
facilities).

Market Risk

Therisk that changesin foreign exchangerates and interest
rates willaffectthe D N2 dilcifin@ or value of itholdings of
financial instrumentsThe Group may enteinto commodity
derivatives,foreign exchangederivatives and may also incur
financial liabilities (debt), in order tmanagemarket risksAll
suchtransactionsare carried out within Boardapprovedlimits.

The D NR dflnihéial risks aremanaged primarily by the
Executive Officer, including extenal consultation advice as
required, as a part of the dayto-day management of the
D N2 datfalesd-inanceandriskreportingare standarditemsin
the report presented ateachBoardmeeting.

Capital Management

TheBoardseeksto maintaina strongcapitalbase sufficient to
maintain the future development of th® N2 daudide&ssThe
Board closelymonitors the D NB di€) af capital so as to
ensure it is appropriatefor the D NP dzild@réed level of
activities. There were nochanges to thed N2 dabjifbach to
capital managementuringthe year.

(y) Government Grants

Gowrnment grants relating to costsare deferred and
recognised in profit and loss over the periogcessary to match
them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

(z) Rightof-use assets

A rightof-use asset is recognised at the commencement date
of a lease. The righif-use asseis measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability, adjusted for,
as applicable, any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date net of any lease incentives received, any
initial direct costs incurred, and, except wieincluded in the
cost of inventories, an estimate of costs expected to be
incurred for dismantling and removing the underlying asset,
and restoring the site or asset.

Rightof-use assets are depreciated on a straijhé basis over
the unexpired perioaf the lease or the estimated useful life of
the asset, whichever is the shorter. Where the consolidated
entity expects to obtain ownership of the leased asset at the
end of the lease term, the depreciation is over its estimated
useful life. Rightf use &sets are subject to impairment or
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

The consolidated entity has elected not to recognise a rafht
use asset and corresponding lease liability for stemnn leases

Lease payments on these assets are expensed to profit or loss
as incurred.

(aa) Lease liabilities

A lease liability is recognised at the commencement date of a
lease. The lease liability is initially recognised at the present
value d the lease payments to be made over the term of the
lease, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or,
if that rate cannot be readily determined, the consolidated
entity's incremental borrowing rate. Lease payments comprise
of fixed paymats less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, amounts
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees, exercise
price of a purchase option when the exercise of the option is
reasonably certain to acur, and any anticipated termination
penalties. The variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are expensed in the period they are incurred.

Lease liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. The oging amounts are
remeasured if there is a change in the following:

1

future lease payments arising from a change in an index or
a rate used,;

residual guarantee;

lease term;

certainty of a purchase optigrand

termination penalties.

When a lease liabilitysiremeasured, an adjustment is made to

the corresponding righof-use asset, or to profit or loss if the
carrying amount of the rightf-use asset is fully written down.

= —a —a —9
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4. RevenueOther Income andExpenses
Revenue anather income A 2
$nnn $nnn
Revenue from contractsrecognsed over time 56 63
Other income 50 -
Total revenue and other income 106 63
) 2023 2022
Other expenses M AA S0 G
Corporate Administration and Marketing Costs 387 262
Insurancecosts 343 323
Legal, Accounting ardther Consultants 1,038 297
ASX feesShare Registrgnd AGMCosts 71 68
Domestic / Internationalravelandaccommodation 136 11
Other 1 6
Total other expenses 1,976 967

5.

Grant Thornton Audit Pty Ltd

Audit andreview of financial reports
Nortraudit services

I dzR A (iemNidarationw

2023 2022

$ $
115,781 146,354
14,274 2,900

¢2GFt | dZRAG2NDA NBYdzyS 130,055 149,254
6. Finance mcome andCosts
Finance income e A
bQn bQn
Interest income 207 74
Total finance income 207 74
Finance costs AUED zz
bQn PQn
Interest on borrowings 3,546 3,230
Unwind of discount on mine rehabilitation provisior 416 395
Amortisation of borrowing costs 14 11
Facility fees 85 85
Other borrowing costs 15 14
Total finance costs 4,076 3,735
7. Cash and &hEquivalents
2023 2022
b Qn bQn
Cash on hand 1 1
Bank balances 343 100
Shortterm restricted cash omleposit 30 30
Total cash and cash equivalents 374 131
Restricted cash odeposit? 5,670 5,670
Total noncurrent restricted cash 5,670 5,670

1.

N

Represents restricted cash on deposit to support environmental
rehabilitationbonds and minor credit card facilities.

$567 million (202: $5.67 million) supports the environmental
rehabilitation bond over Mining Lease 6229 required by the South
AustralianGovernment The company maypt to refinance it€ash backed
bank guarantee facility with th€ommonwealth Bank of Australia (CB#\)

a debt arrangement.Given the decision regardirige Bird in Hand mine
refusal received subsequentttte reporting date, the restricted nature of
the deposits has been reclassified to a +4camrent asset to match the
expected timing of rehabilitation
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8. Inventories
2023 2022
P Qn PQn
Non-current
Raw materials and consumables 51 251
Total inventories at the lower of cost and net
realisable value 51 251
9. Trade and @her Receivables
2023 2022
PQn PQn
Trade receivables 10 72
Accrued interest receivable 3 1
Other receivables (including GST refund) 56 54
Total trade and othereceivables 69 127
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10.Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment non-current

Freehold land
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At cost 3,460 3,460
Total freehold land 3,460 3,460
Buildings and other infrastructure

At cost 104 126
Less accumulated depreciation (104) (125)
Total buildings and other infrastructure - 1
Rightof-use Assets

At cost 288 288
Less accumulated depreciation (288) (288)
Total Rightof-use Assets - -
Plant and Equipment

At cost 56,126 56,919
Less accumulated impairment (14,219) (14,219)
Less accumulated depreciation (39,729 (40,415)
Total plant and equipmenit 1,615 2,285
Total property plant and equipment 5,075 5,746

1. The Directors have considered the recoverable amouypropierty, plant and equipment based on available market informéftioiromparable asset

Movementsin carryingamounts

Freehold Buildings& other Plantand  Rightsof-use

Property, plant and equipment non-current land infrastructure equipment Assets

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Opening carrying amount 1 Jan230 3,460 1 2,285 - 5,746
Additions - - 52 - 52
Disposals - - (8) - 8)
Depreciatiorandamortisation - 1) (714 - (715
Carryingamount at 31 Dec 228 3,460 - 1,615 - 5,075

Freehold Buildings& other Plantand  Rightsof-use

Property, plant and equipment non-current land infrastructure equipment Assets

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Opening carrying amount 1 Jan 202 3,460 1 3,013 16 6,490
Additions - - 3 - 3
Disposals - - - - -
Deconsolidation of Western Mediterranean ZBypa - - (10) (6) (16)
Depreciatiorandamortisation - - (721) (20) (739
Carryingamount at 31 Dec 202 3,460 1 2,285 - 5,746
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Terramin holding a minority interest. Consequently, the subsidiary
Western Mediterranean Zinc has been deconsolidated from the

11.Exploration andEvaluation Assets

o P iefogn;l(lj')/efla CAYLFYOALIT wSLE2ZNIU FyR | F
PQn. PQn . .
Exploration and evaluation In AFebruary{ 202‘3the'1Company was |nformgd lﬂge Souvth Agstrg’llap }
At cost 8038 63813 5SLI NIGYSyild F2N D5V BEH XS ¢ Roedistoifith NB &
o ’ ’ refuse to grant a Mining Lease and a Miscellaneous Purposes Licence in
Additions 89 415 respect of the Bird in Hand Goldoject. Subsequently, the Minister
Deconsolidation Western Mediterranean ZinSp# - (41,120) recommended tder Excellency the Governor of South Australia that an
Provision for impairment of Bird in Hand Gold - (15,099) area corresponding with mining lease application and mineral claim 4473
Foreign currencynovement - 29 be reserved pursuant to section 8 of the Act (meaning that those areas be
Total exploration and evaluation 8,127 8,038 excluded from the possibility of future applicationsdein the Act).
Following that recommendatiorgn 27 April 2023her Excellency made
Exploration and evaluation projects bgrea of 2023 2022 the Mining (Reservation from Act) Proclamation 2023 (SA) reserving the
interest PQn., bQn land from the operation of parts 4, 5, 6, 6A, 8 and 8A of thelAdiugust
Tala Hamza Zinc Project (Terras@o) - - 2023, he Compangommertedlegal proceedings in the Supreme Court
Adelaide Hills (Terramin 10094) 2194 2132 of South Austrr:.lli.a segking judicial revi.ew of the Squth Australian
Bird in Hand Gol@Terramin Exploration 1006) i i Government decisionsT his legal processntinuesto progressnto 2024
South Gawler Ranges (Menninnie Metals 1G0%) 5933 5,906 12.Investment in \estern MediterraneanZinc
Total exploration and evaluation 8,127 8,038

i i Investment in WMZ Dec2023 Dec 202
1. The Company entered into an agreement with respect to the KapLopiaer bQnnA

g - - - bnnys
Prolgct, over which the Company has a current Exploratlpn Llcepce. Fair value at loss of control R 45,101
Environment Copper Recovery Pty Ltd (ECR) earned a 50% interest in the__. - .

. . ! : . : Fair value at beginning of the period 45,235 -
project after spending $2m on field trials and associated studies. ECR elected ) ) .

. . . ) ) Share of WMZ profit/(loss) during the period (119) (60)

to earn an additional 25% interest inet project by spending a further $4m. Worki ital tributi t0 WMZ duri
The Company agreed to amend the minimum expenditure terms of the joint or |n%cap| al contributions to unng
F NN} y3ISYSyid &dzOK GKFEG d SEOK Fyyah A NBE— RG-S &—a
a cumulative basis to consider fluctuations in the timing of projectiagti Total investment inWMZ

45746 45,35

Subiject to the completion of the expenditure by ECR, the Company will retain . : " Dec2023 Dec 202
a minimum 25% contributing interest and a 1.5% net smelter royalty in P R E ) (Rl G bQn P Qn
respect of all metals extracted from the joint venture area. The expenditure  Current assets - 84
by ECR on the project istrreflected in the accounts of the Company, Non-current assets 41,573 41,133
however will contribute to the minimum expenditure obligations under the  Current liabilities (230) (115)
terms of the Exploration License. Non-current liabilities - -

2. The Company entered into an edmarrangement with Freeport McMoRan Net assets 41,343 41,102
Exploration Australia Pty Ltd @29 in respect of the Wild Horse project. In 1. During2022 the Compangave upa 16% ownership interest in WMZ to
2021, Newmont Australia Pty Ltd (Newmont), a whollned subsidiary of ~ ENOFin order to comply with Algerian Lawhich resulted in Terramin
bSey2yld /2NLRNIGA2ys O2YLXSGSR GKS  IheldingZh dninsrity dniérest & thé PéBoftingdatdl OGonséqgaty, Nie € 7
operations, including Wild Horse, which received FIRB appraaier?2021. subsidiary WMvasRS O2 y a2t A Rl 4§ SR T NRaVRepbk S/
In March 2022, Newmont funded drilling of an initial dr@e program to GAGK ¢SNNI YAYQ& nd: Ay DS acinelssset Ay
target the Wild Horse aerial magnetic anomaly on the western edge of the in accordance with AASB 10 and AASB 128.

magnetic granite pluton. Following receipt of the results of testing the assays
produced from thedrilling, the Company received notice from Newmont
advising of its decision to terminate the Wild Horse Hasgreement. Under

the terms of the Agreement, Terramin retains 100% of the Wild Horse
exploration lease (EL 5846).

The fair value at the date of loss of control was determined with the
assistance of a valuation expert having regard nltiple valuation
methods including:

w Discounted cash flows associated with the Tala Hamza Zinc Pamjéct;

. o ) w Transactios for Zinc assatfrom 1 January 2018
3. During2022 the Company executed a A$10.5 million exploration agreement

with JOGMEC relating to the South Gawler Ranges tenements. In June 2022,
the transaction received FIRB approWdllowing an extensive gravity survey
undertaken in late 2022, the parties fmlled up with a series of TEM
(Transient Electromagnetic) surveys over five target areas and priority driling 3. Western Mediterranean Zinc Spa (WMZ) is an Algerian registered

The fair value measurement is classified as Level 3, with the key inputs used
in the valuation beingroved, probable and potential resources, cost of
extraction and relative zinc prices.

targets have been identified. As at the end of the year, the parties are company. It is a vehicle to develop the Project between Terramin and
awaiting heritage clearance for these areas. In addition, JOGMEC and Enterprise Nationale des Produitsridirs NorFerreux et des Substances
Termamin obtained approval from DEM for the drilling of tadditional Utiles Spa (ENOF). Terramin holds a 49% shareholding in WMZ, with the
target areas with one being near Menninnie Dam and the other near Nonning remaining 51% held by two Algerian governmewned companie€£NOF
Station Homestead. Drilling commenced in January and results are pending. and ORGM.

A further drilling program focusing onefadditional targets is expected to 4. There are no separate commitments for expenditure at this time foZWM

be undertaken later in 2024 once heritage clearances and subsequent

approval from DEM has been obtained. During the reporting period, 13.Trade and @her Payables

Menninnie Metals Pty Ltd entered into a Native Title Mining Agreement for

explorationactivities with the Gawler Ranges Aboriginal Corporation. This 2023 2022
agreement applies to the entire SGRP area and replaces all existing bQn b Qn
agreements. The expenditure by JOGMEC on the tenements is not reflected Trade payables 962 741
in the accounts of the Company, however will contebto the minimum Other payables and accrued expenses 959 742
expenditure obligations under the terms of the Exploration Licenses. Total trade and other payables 1,921 1,483

4. During2022 theCompanyave up a 16% interest to its joint venture partners
to ensure that the partnership conforms to government regulations
regarding the ownershipf the Algerian strategic assetghich resulted in

Trade and other payables are normally Aoterest bearing
and are settled on 30 days eifl month terms.
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14.Loans and Borrowings
2023 2022
bQn P Qn
Current liabilities
Loans secured 27,183 27,183
Loansg unsecured 4,073 1.075
Total short term borrowings 31,256 28,258
Accrued interest on borrowings 14,992 11,432
Total short term borrowingsand accrued interest 46,248 39,690
Finance Facilities 2023 2022
b Qn b Qn
Financing facilities
Loan facilities available 31,256 28,459
Loan facilities- drawn 31,258 28,259

Less: unamortised transaction costs ) 1)

Accruedinterest on borrowings 14,992 11,432
Carrying amount at 31 December 46,248 39,690
Guarantee facility

Guarantee facilitg availablé 5,665 5,665
Guarantee facility undrawn - -
Guarantee facility- drawn 5,665 5,665

1. At the reporting date, the Group hatllly drawn down 81.26 million
available to the Company in respecttbfee loan facilities provided bythe
/2YLY) yeéQa
payable upon termination date. Subsequent to the reporting date, the
Company reached agreement with Asipac, to extencettperyterm of the
facilitiesto 31 July2024.

2. The$5.7 million environmentalrehabilitation bond requiredby the South
Australian Governmerdver Mining Lease 6228ontinued to besupported
by a cash backed CBankguarantee.

Under the terms of the $6.0 millioBird in Hand facility (BIH

Facility) and the$21.18million Standby facilityStandby Facility

provided to Terramin ExplorationPty Ltd, the following first

ranking securities have been granted to Asipgaeal property
mortgageoverland acquiredat Bird in Handa general security
interest over all the assets dkrraminExploration Pty Ltdnda
specificsecurityoverthe sharesof TerraminExplorationPtyLtd.

All securityinterestswill be dischargedupon repayment of all

amounts due under the BlFacility. The$4.075 million Standby

(No.2) Facility Standby (No.2) Facilijyprovided by Asipac to

TerraminExplorationPtyLtd is unsecured

15.Provisions

2023 2022
bQn P Qn
Current
Employee benefits 84 132
Total current provisions 84 132
Non-current:
Employee benefits 58 27
Mine rehabilitatior? 5,034 5,742
Total noncurrent provisions 5,092 5,769
Employee Mine
Benefits Rehabilitation
PQn PQn
At 1 January 202 159 5,742 5,901
Change to pvision 50 416 466
Remeasurement - (1,129 (1,124)
Paid during the period (67) - (67)
At 31 December 202 142 5,034 5,176
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The mine rehabilitation provision is recognided the estimated cost of
rehabilitation, decomnssioning, restoration and loAgrm monitoring of
areas disturbed during operation of the Angas Zinc Mine up to repalditey

but not yet rehabilitated.

The mine rehabilitation provision is basedn currert cost
estimates and has been determined on a discounted basis with
reference to current legal requirements and technology. The
provision fas been calculated using372% riskfree discount
rate (2022: 3.73%).

Despite thef | a i de8siolNIRy the South Australian
Government to refuse to grant the Mining Lease and
Miscellareous Purposes Licence in respect of the Bird in Hand
Gold Project, the Company has rnimmediate plans to
commencerehabilitation of the Angas Zinc Mine site at
continues toprogress to Judicial Reviefithe decision

16.Issued capital

(&) Ordinaryshares

Theholders of ordinary shares are entitled to one vote per share
at meetings of the Company and participation dividends
declared All issued shares are fully paid.

2023 2022
PQn. $000
Ordinaryshares 229,676 229,676
Shareissuecosts (5,745) (5,745)

Totalissuedcapital 223,931 223,931

(b) Detailed table of capital issued during the year

Type of share  Issue Number ofOrdinary Issue  Share Capital
issue date Shares on issue price$ PQn
At 1Jan2023 2,116,562,720 223,931
At 31Dec 203 2,116,562,720 223,931
IssuedCapital 223,931

Type of share  Issue Number of Ordinary Issue  Share Capital

issue date Shares on issue price$ PQn
At 1Jan2022 2,116,562,720 223,931
At 31Dec 202 2,116,562,720 223,931
IssuedCapital 223,931

17.Reserves

(a) Foreign currency translation reserve

. . 2023 2022
Foreign currency translation reserve bQn., $000
Balanceat the beginningof the year (12) (9,279)
Adjustmenton translationto presentationcurrency - -
Deconsolidation of WMZ - 9,267
Balance at the end of the year (12) (12)

The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record
exchange differences arisingfrom the translation of the
financialstatements of foreign subsidiaries.

(b) Share based payments reserve

2023 2022
Share based payments reserve ban, $000
Balanceat the beginningof the year 195 195
Options valueexpired unexerciseduring the year (195) -
Balance at the end of the year - 195
Total Reserves (12) 183
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Thesharebasedpaymentreserveis usedto recognisethe value
of equity-settled sharebasedpayment transactions, including
employees an&MP,as part oftheir remuneration.During the
2023 reporting periodno optionsor share rightsvere granted
u 2

The 10,000,000 options granted,tdr Richard Taylorthe
former CEQin 2018were valued in accordance with the Black
Scholes valuation methodologWr Richard Taylor stepped
down asCEQof the Companyn July2020 prior to tranches 3
FYR n  ONBLNBaSyidiAy3
10,000,000 options vesting which therefore forfeited.
Tranches1 and 2 (representing 5,000,000 optiongxpired,
unexercised, in August 2023.

18.Non-controlling Interest

2023 2022
bQn. $000
Balanceat the beginningof the year 13,134
Deconsolidation of WMZ (13,134)

Balance at the end of the year

Prior t02022, the movement in norcontrolling interest relatd

to the 35% minorityinterest (ENOF 32.5% and ORGM 2.5%) in
exploration and evaluation costs for ti@alaHamza Zinc Project
funded directly by the Group through its 658areholding in
WMZ. A total of 35% of all assets contributed to WMZ by the
Group effectively accrue to ENOF and ORGM for nil
O2yAARSNIYGA2Yy O62GKSNJ GKIy F2
earrtin).

During 2@2, the Companygave upa 16% interest to its joint
venture partners to ensure that the partnership confasno
government regulations regarding the ownership of the
Algerian strategic assetsThisresulted in Terramin holding a
minority interestandthe subsidiaryWMZ wasdeconsolidated
FNRY (KS [/ 2YL} yeAspotalolekpb@tion f
assetsvas recognised.

19.Income Tax ¥pense

2023 2022
$'000 $'000
Prima facie tax benefit on loss before income tax
at 30%(2022: 30%) (1,871 (6,324)
Decrease in income tax benefit due to:
(Deductible)/nondeductible items 364 4,609
Deferredtax assetot broughtto account (1,507 (1,715)
Unused tax losses for which no deferred tesset
hasbeenrecognised 193,781 189,286
Potential tax benefit 58,134 56,786

Theapplicableweightedaverageeffectivetax rates

for the reporting period are 24% 8%

TheCompanyis part of anAustralianTax ConsolidatedGroup.
TheAustralianTax ConsolidatedGroup has potential deferred
taxassets of $8.1 million (2@2: $56.8 million). These have not
been brought to accourtbecausethe Directorsdo not consider
the realisationof the deferred tax asset as probable.
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The benefit of these tabosses will be obtained if:

a. the Australian Tax Consolidated Group derives future
assessabléncome ofa nature and of an amount sufficient
to enable the benefits to be realised;

the AustralianTax Consolidatedsroupcan comply with the
conditionsfor deductibilityimposed byax legislation;and
no changesn the incometax legislationadverselyaffect the
AustralianTax ConsolidatedGroupin realisingthe benefit
from the deduction of the loss.

C.

P Z NN NN fnbrdeltd-diiibthetbénefit Bfthe tak Wobse, hsBessPdhR &

will need to be undertakenwith regardsto the continuity of
ownership orsamebusinesgests.

20.Cash Flowriformation

Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with loss from
ordinaryactivitiesafterincometax:
2023 2022

PQn. $000

Losdor the period (6,359 (13,470)

Adjustmentfor:

Depreciatiorandamortisation 715 724
Inventoryimpairment 200 6
Amortisationof borrowingcosts - 11
Provision formpairment of norcurrent assets - 15,099
Mine rehabilitation provision change in assumptior (708) 124

(including discountinwind and cost revision)

R B e o L S LN o)

) Lz c
angen operatingassetsand liabilities: As

Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 81 (84)
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments 387 368
(Decrease)/increase in payables awtruals 2,690 2,802
(Decrease)/increase in provisions (16) 41
Cashflow (used in) operatingctivities (3,009 (2,139

YISREMEY Rrties
(a) Keymanagementpersonnelcompensation

Summary of Key Management Personnel (KMP) compensation

2023 2022

$ $

Shortterm employee benefits 673,563 662,569
Longterm employee benefits 13,095 9,386
Postemployment benefits 38,024 47,738
Total KMP compensation 724,682 719,693

Theamountsdisclosedn the table arethe amountsrecognised
as an expenseduring the reporting year related to KMP.
Amounts paid to KMRrom prior yearshave been excluded
from this table.

(b) Other transactions with related parties

Thefollowing table providesthe total amountof transactions
that have beerentered intowith related parties for the relevant
financialyear.

Entities with significant influence ovethe Group

At 31 December 2@ Asipacowned 39.0% ofthe ordinary
shares inTerramin (2022: 39.0®%6) and iscontrolled by Mr
Shengwho is the Executive Chair of ti@empanyMr Siciliano
is the Chief Financial Officef Asipac
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